
A N N U A L

R E P O R T

& A C CO U N T S

2 0 0 9

FINDEL PLC

Burley House, Bradford Road, Burley in Wharfedale, West Yorkshire LS29 7DZ

w w w . f i n d e l . c o . u k

FIN
D

E
L

PLC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
E
P
O
R
T
&

A
C
C
O
U
N
T
S

2
0
0
9

w
w

w
.
f
i
n

d
e

l
.
c

o
.
u

k

w w w . f i n d e l . c o . u k



C o n t e n t s

1. Financial Highlights

2. Chairman’s Statement

6. Finance Director’s Review

12. Directors and Advisors

13. Directors’ Report

16. Corporate Governance
Report

23. Board Report on Directors’
Remuneration

30. Corporate Social
Responsibility

32. Independent Auditors’ Report
(Group)

34. Consolidated Income
Statement

35. Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Income and
Expense

36. Consolidated Balance Sheet

37. Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement

38. Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

78. Independent Auditors’ Report
(Company)

79. Company Balance Sheet

80. Notes to the Company
Financial Statements

87. Notice of Annual General
Meeting



F i n a n c i a l H i g h l i g h t s

2009 2008

Revenue from ongoing businesses £599.8m £610.6m

Benchmark Profit before Tax* £33.4m £50.6m

(Loss)/profit before Tax (£51.9m) £25.2m

Benchmark basic earnings per share* 30.04p 43.02p

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (49.45)p 19.90p

Dividends per share 2.20p 22.20p

* Benchmark measures are as defined within the Finance Director’s Review on page 6



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The financial period ended 3 April 2009
was a challenging year for Findel, with
overall sales from continuing operations
lower at £599.8m (2008: £610.6m) and
Benchmark* profit before tax (which was
reduced by £4.0m as a result of the
accounting policies and practice changes
detailed below) reduced to £33.4m
(2008: £50.6m). The termination of
certain businesses, and associated
impairments, changes in accounting
policies, practices or estimates in
respect of debtors, stock and labour
capitalisation, and exceptional charges
in respect of restructuring activities,
resulted in a statutory loss before tax
for the year of £51.9m (2008: profit
of £25.2m). Benchmark* earnings per
share was 30.04p (2008: 43.02p)
and basic loss per share was 49.45p
(2008: earnings per share 19.90p).
The group has today announced a proposed fully
underwritten Capital Raising to raise gross proceeds
of approximately £81m by way of a Firm Placing and a
Placing and Open Offer. The proceeds of the placing will
be used to accelerate the group’s debt reduction plan.
Further details of this Capital Raising are set out in
a separate announcement made today.

Home Shopping
Sales from ongoing businesses reduced by 4%
to £366.7m (2008: £380.0m), with Benchmark*
operating profit of £32.2m (2008: £48.9m)
reflecting the difficult trading conditions. Statutory
sales for the Home Shopping division were £384.4m
(2008: £409.8m) with statutory operating loss of
£30.2m (2008: profit of £37.3m).

The strategy of the Home Shopping division for the
year was implemented to mitigate the difficult
economic conditions. In the core credit business, the
division reduced marketing spend and concentrated on
existing customer base. This assisted customer
retention, which is steady at just under 70%, however,
the conservative approach to customer recruitment
resulted in a decline in the division’s total customer
base year-on-year. Bad debts remain firmly under
control and whilst there was some increase in defaults
during the year, this was anticipated and was in line
with the board’s expectations. The group will increase
its investment in customer recruitment with a view to
returning the customer base to growth when market
conditions are appropriate.

Due to the different customer demographic, the cash
with order businesses were particularly impacted by the
poor market conditions. In response to this, the board
took the decision to close both Letterbox and The
Cotswold Company, a decision which will generate £8.0m
of annualised savings. The cash cost to the group as a
result of these actions was less than £1.0m.

IWOOT and Kitbag successfully increased sales,
however, this was at a reduced average margin.
Kleeneze also traded at a reduced average margin and
experienced slightly lower sales. The board continues
to believe that these businesses have unique qualities
and are capable of profitable growth as market
conditions improve.

The internet continues to present real opportunities
for the division with over 60% of all sales being
transacted online. Average order value to the
established credit base was 7% higher for online
orders.

Home Shopping is a solidly profitable business and the
board has identified key areas for expansion and
improved efficiency. Recent consumer testing has
identified that the division’s current clothing offering
can be materially expanded and, for the first time, this
Autumn’s catalogue will contain over 240 pages of
apparel and accessories. The clothing offering will
principally comprise non-critical fit items which tend to
have attractive margins, low rates of customer return
and do not require the existing infrastructure to be
reconfigured to provide for hanging space.

The division currently operates from seven warehouses
across the North West of England. Plans are well
advanced for the construction of a single 55,000
pallet location high bay bulk storage warehouse to
supply the division’s major distribution site in
Accrington. Leasing such a facility would enable the
division to release five of its existing warehouses and
is estimated to produce a tangible net cost saving of
c.£3.3m a year. This facility will also release space in
the Accrington site enabling the division to introduce
a dynamic picking system which it is envisaged will lead
to further net cost savings of c.£2.5m a year. The
construction and commissioning of the new high
bay warehouse is expected to take approximately
18 months.

Sales from continuing operations for the first 15 full
weeks of the financial year were 3% down on the same
period last year.

Education Supplies
Sales from ongoing operations in the Education
Supplies division were 4% down at £168.3m
(2008: £174.7m), with most of the shortfall arising
in March. Benchmark* operating profit was £15.2m
(2008: £22.0m). Statutory sales for the Education
Supplies division were £168.3m (2008: £179.4m)
with statutory operating loss of £0.8m (2008: profit
of £11.5m).
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Sales were in line with last year until mid-February.
In March, where the division has previously seen a
significant increase in sales due to it being the end of
the public sector financial year, the level of activity was
subdued with a sales shortfall of over £6.0m against last
year. The growing concerns about the levels of future
public sector spending given the issues in the wider
economy led to a more conservative purchasing pattern
from schools. Whilst the sale of commodity products
was relatively stable, sales of discretionary items were
disappointing. The reduction in volume together with a
change in sales mix negatively affected gross margin.
Online sales grew to £15.8m (2008: £9.1m), a 74%
increase, and they continue to grow well.

The Education Supplies division is positioning itself to
grow its market share aggressively. The division has
recently installed a new computer system, which is
fully operational and has also constructed and occupied
a new head office allowing administrative functions to
be consolidated. This is estimated to produce a cost
saving of £2.0m per year from the next financial year.
The rationalisation of stock-keeping units, together
with the increased efficiency of the product supply
channel will result in a reduction in warehousing
requirements, producing further net cost savings
of c.£2.0m per annum.

Sales from continuing operations for the first 15 full
weeks of the financial year were 6% below the same
period last year due substantially to the timing of
Easter and the phasing of international project sales
together with continued caution in discretionary spend.

The board believes that continued uncertainty over
public sector spending will lead schools to pay greater
attention to price. The division has recognised this
changing dynamic and has identified further efficiencies
of approximately £2.0m that can be achieved. These
efficiencies will enable the division to invest in and
improve its customer offering. The board believes that
these savings, together with the division’s position as
market leader, will enable it to become a key value
operator in the market and further grow market share.

Healthcare
NRS, the group’s Healthcare business, has enjoyed
a strong year with improvements in sales and
operating profit. Sales increased by 16% to £64.8m
(2008: £55.8m) and Benchmark* operating profit
increased by 80% to £4.9m (2008: £2.7m). The
statutory operating profit was £4.3m (2008: loss
of £0.7m).

After a considerable period of uncertainty during the
government review of the ICES market, there are a
number of new contracts coming out for tender. The
directors believe that the division is well placed to take
advantage of this development in the market and make
further strong progress. In Primary Care, a new
catalogue and more frequent mailings is proving
successful, with customer numbers increasing by
30% over the course of the last financial year. The
directors expect further good progress in Primary

Care during the course of this year. Sales in the
Healthcare division for the first 15 weeks of the new
financial year are in line with last year.

Cash Generation
The group’s net cash inflow from operating activities was
£38.9m compared to an outflow of £17.1m in 2008, an
improvement of £56.0m reflecting good progress from
the group’s strategic cash generation programme. In
particular, stock levels were reduced by £19.0m in the
year. The group is on track to deliver its targeted
c.£100.0m of cash generation by 31 March 2011.

Further to the announcement on 22 May 2009, the
board continues to review the group’s operating
structure. As part of this review, the board plans to
supplement its cash generation programme through
the potential disposal of certain non-core assets,
including, possibly, the disposal of NRS.

Amended credit facilities
The group entered into agreements for the provision of
the Amended Credit Facilities on 24 July 2009, which
replace its previous credit facilities, and which comprise:

� a £250m revolving credit facility;

� a £77.3m revolving credit facility which was used
to refinance the group’s previous uncommitted
bilateral overdraft facilities; and

� a super senior facility which was used to refinance
the balance of the group’s previous uncommitted
bilateral overdraft facilities and which also provides
for an additional facility of up to £20m to provide
new working capital to the group.

The amended credit facilities provide for two scenarios,
firstly where the Capital Raising announced today is
completed, and secondly where the Capital Raising
announced today is not completed. If the Capital Raising
is completed, the terms of the amended credit facilities
that will apply will include, inter alia, lower aggregate
margins and fees and a less restrictive dividend policy.
The specific details of the amended credit facilities are
included in a separate announcement issued today.

Sale and leaseback of property at Hyde
In support of the cash generation plan, the group has
successfully completed the sale of a 999 year leasehold
interest of its newly constructed head office for its
Education Supplies division at Ashton Road, Hyde
(“the Hyde Property”) for a total consideration of
£9.0m plus VAT to Hamsard 3157 Limited. Of the
total £9.0m consideration, £5.0m has been received
with two further instalments of £2.0m being payable
on each of the first and second year anniversaries of
the lease commencement. The proceeds of the sale
will be used to reduce net debt.

The Hyde Property, which has been constructed over the
last 12 months and occupies 55,000 square feet, was
purpose-built to act as the administrative headquarters
of the group’s Educational Supplies business. The Hyde
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Property was stated in the group’s last interim
accounts for the six months ended 30 September 2008
at a value of £2.15m. The disposal realised a profit of
£0.55m. As part of the arrangement, the group has
entered into a 25 year occupational lease over the Hyde
Property. The rent of this lease is £852,000 per annum,
with a five yearly rent review. The leaseback arrangement
will enable the group to continue to conduct business as
usual at the Hyde Property.

Acquisition of Webb
The group has also successfully completed the acquisition
of the 70% ordinary share capital of The Webb Group
Limited (“Webb”) not already owned by Findel. As a
result, Webb is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Findel. The 70% voting share capital was acquired for
a total consideration of three pounds sterling, paid in
cash; one pound sterling being paid to each Bernard
Kumeta and David Robinson (as management
shareholders), and one pound sterling being paid to
Harness Hill Trustee Company Limited (as trustee
of the Webb Employee Share Ownership Trust).

Webb comprises two main trading companies, Choices
Group UK Limited (“Choices UK”) and Webb Ivory
Burton Limited (“WIB”). Choices UK is one of the UK’s
largest supplier of retail home entertainment products,
including games, DVDs, music and gifts. WIB is a
consumer mail order business which sells a range of
classic TV, film and entertainment DVDs. The current
management team, headed by Bernard Kumeta, will
remain with the business.

Following losses for the financial year ended 31 March
2008, for the period to 3 April 2009 Webb’s benchmark
profit after tax was £1.3m. At 3 April 2009 Webb had
net liabilities of £36.0m. Webb’s principal liabilities
comprise amounts owing to the group which at 3 April
2009 totalled £38.7m. The Webb acquisition will be
accounted for under acquisition accounting which will
give rise to substantial goodwill in the group financial
statements. The fair value of the assets acquired and
the goodwill will be included in the group’s interim
statement for financial year 2009/10. The integration
of the Choices UK business into Webb has been
successfully completed with resulting cost savings of
over £7.0m a year transforming a loss making group
into one generating a good level of profitability. The
Findel board believes that the acquisition of Webb will
be earnings enhancing for the group.

Dividends
The board believes that the group’s existing financial
resources should be used to ensure liquidity and to
invest in the group’s operations. As such, the board
has decided not to pay a final dividend for the 2009
financial year. Pursuant to the terms of the amended
credit facilities, no dividend is to be paid in respect of
the 2010 financial year. Thereafter, dividend payments
are dependant on certain leverage ratios being met. If
the Capital Raising does not complete, no dividend
payments are permitted before 1 July 2011.

Subject to the above, the board aims to resume
dividend payments when possible and appropriate,
consistent with Findel’s operational and financial
performance.

Other items
During the year, the group incurred certain one-off
charges which have been grouped together as “Other
items” in the income statement. These charges have
been excluded from Benchmark* results.

The charges were incurred in part as a result of the
implementation of the group’s cash generation
programme and in part as a result of initiatives
targeted at increasing the operational efficiency of
the group. Whilst the charge in the income statement
for the year was £85.4m, the cash cost was only
£25.5m, of which the group has already recovered
approximately £9.0m through corporation tax
repayments following the year-end. It is anticipated
that the group will recover an additional £6.0m
through corporation tax deductions in future years,
which will bring the total cash cost of these charges
to approximately £10.0m.

The primary elements of Other items are:

� Debtor provisioning (£14.4m) – The group’s
historic approach to debtor provisioning has been
to provide for debtor balances which were in
excess of 180 days overdue, based on estimated
irrecoverable amounts. In the current period, the
provisioning basis has been reviewed in the light
of changes in the UK economy so as to be aligned
with current practices in the retail credit market.
The revised policy makes provision for customers’
balances where an event of default has occurred
at the balance sheet date but has not yet been
reported to the group. If the new basis had been
adopted at the start of the financial year, the
additional charge for the current year would have
been eliminated.

� Stock provisioning (£14.3m) – The drive to reduce
working capital is a fundamental element of the
group’s commitment to cash generation and this
year stock holdings have already been reduced
by £19.0m. To bring forward cost savings, the
company has also taken the decision to accelerate
the disposal of discontinued stock lines which will
generate cash and release warehouse capacity.
The value of the affected stock lines, was a
further £14.3m. The group will benefit from
reduced storage costs of £2.0m per annum
going forward.

� Exceptional charges (£16.4m) – Exceptional charges
comprised costs in relation to the restructuring
and integration of acquisitions in previous years.
These charges include employee severance costs,
duplicated operational costs, onerous lease costs,
reorganisation of warehousing facilities and
provisions for future operating losses following
the announcement of business closures.
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� Terminated operations (£27.2m) – On 2 April 2009,
the group announced the termination of Letterbox
and The Cotswold Company. As a result of the
challenging consumer environment these brands
were incurring significant losses (£9.9m) and cash
outflows, a position which the board concluded
would remain, at least in the short term. Given
the group’s focus on cash generation, these
businesses were closed, thereby eliminating the
losses and associated cash outflows. In addition,
the carrying value of intangible assets for both
businesses (amounting to £17.3m) was written
off in full.

� Goodwill impairment (£4.7m) – Webb has partially
closed its loss-making charity business to eliminate
losses and to enable the recently acquired Choices
business to be fully integrated into Webb’s
infrastructure. Whilst the integration process has
been a success and the business is now positioned
to generate a substantial increase in operating
profit, the goodwill associated with the terminated
business has been written off.

Changes in accounting policies and practice
In the period ended 3 April 2009 the board reviewed
its accounting policies and practices in respect of IT
Development costs and Brochure costs.

� IT Development costs (£3.7m) – Over the past
three years, the group has significantly increased
its investment in developing and maintaining
software systems for inventory management,
customer relationship management and its
associated internet trading capabilities. This
activity has been largely the result of recent
acquisitions.

Over this period, as business units enhanced
their underlying systems, the capitalisation policy
was supported by future cash flows from the
businesses involved. Under IAS 38 “Intangible
Assets”, such capitalisation should cease when
the asset is in the condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.

The board has reviewed the historic, current, and
ongoing level and nature of the amounts incurred
in software development. They have determined
that the previous practice should be amended
such that the cessation of capitalisation of
software development costs occurs when the
main projects involving external contractors cease
and thus that the subsequent internal costs of
maintaining and enhancing the existing systems
should be expensed.

Whilst this change has reduced Benchmark* profit
by £3.7m in the current year, the board believes
that the impact in future years will be limited due
to the reduction in development activities following
the strategic decision to focus on the group’s two
core divisions.

� Brochure costs (£0.3m) – Following Endorsement
by the European Union of “Improvements to IFRSs”
changes to IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” requires
expenditure on catalogue costs to be written off
as incurred. Whilst application of this change is not
required until the financial year ending March 2010,
the board have decided to adopt this policy early
and this is reflected in the statements of the
group’s annual results to 3 April 2009.

Employees
When problems arise as they did last year, the
pressure on all employees at all levels increases. It is
extremely gratifying that the group’s employees met
the challenges they faced and on behalf of the board
and shareholders I would like to express sincere
appreciation for their support and contribution.

Board changes
The board was advised following the annual general
meeting in 2008 that it was the intention of Ivan
Bolton and Tony Johnson not to seek re-election at
this year’s annual general meeting and to retire from
the board. Both Ivan and Tony have each served the
board for over 20 years and I wish to thank them for
the invaluable contribution they have made during that
period. I wish them well for the future. The group is
actively seeking to strengthen the board with new
independent non-executive directors and is making
good progress in the recruitment process.

Outlook
The group’s future strategy is focused on improving
profitability through the implementation of identified
efficiencies in the two core operating divisions of Home
Shopping and Education Supplies. We have strong
positions in these two core markets and well invested
infrastructure from which to trade and drive future
growth.

We continue to operate all divisions in a manner that
recognises the current economic environment, with
a focus on stability and cash generation.

Burley House
Bradford Road

Burley–in–Wharfedale
Keith Chapman West Yorkshire
Chairman LS29 7DZ

* Benchmark results are defined as being before results of
businesses sold or terminated in the current or previous periods,
exceptional stock rationalisation costs, amortisation of acquired
intangibles in business combinations, share option expenses, other
one-off exceptional operating items, (including profits and losses on
sale of investments and businesses, goodwill and tangible fixed
asset impairment, one-off additional debtor provisions, negative
goodwill income, and other exceptional items including net
restructuring charges) and net fair value re-measurements
adjustments to financial instruments, together with the associated
tax effect, but includes interest receivable from its associate.
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Benchmark measure
In order to ensure consistency of reporting the group has, in common with other companies in its sector, identified
a measure of benchmark operating profit, profit before tax and earnings per share which it believes will aid in
understanding its business. Benchmark results are defined as being before results of businesses sold or terminated
in the current or previous periods, exceptional stock rationalisation costs, amortisation of acquired intangibles in
business combinations, share option expenses, other one-off exceptional operating items (including profits and
losses on sale of investments and businesses, goodwill and tangible fixed asset impairment, one-off additional debtor
provisions, negative goodwill income, and other exceptional items including net restructuring charges) and net fair
value remeasurements adjustments to financial instruments but includes interest receivable from its associate.

Revenue
Group revenues decreased by 4% to £617.4m (2008: £645.1m) reflecting the tough trading conditions experienced
by the group during the period under review. Excluding the businesses terminated during the period, revenues
decreased by 2% to £599.8m (2008: £610.6m).

Profit
Benchmark profit before tax decreased by 34% to £33.4m, reflecting the impact of the economic conditions
prevailing in the period. The group recorded a loss before tax of £51.9m (2008: profit of £25.2m) on a statutory
basis, as a consequence of “other items” charged to the profit and loss account. Other items comprises the
following charges: changes in accounting estimates in respect of debtors and stock, exceptional charges, the
results of terminated operations and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. Further detail of these charges
is provided later in the review.

Divisional performance
Benchmark operating profit decreased in both the Home Shopping division (2009: £32.2m; 2008: £48.9m) and the
Educational Supplies division (2009: £15.2m; 2008: £22.0m). In Home Shopping performance fell in part due to the
difficult consumer environment but also as a result of the decision to proactively reduce marketing spend to reduce
new customer recruitment where debtor defaults are typically higher. Despite this reduced level of performance,
average order values remained steady at £43 (2008: £43) during the period, as did retention rates at just under
70% (2008: 70%). In the Education Supplies division, the decrease in performance resulted from several factors.
Firstly revenues fell as a consequence of the expectation that school budgets will be reduced in future years due to
the public sector funding deficit. In addition, margins were negatively impacted by a change in mix to lower margin
commodity products and the depreciation of sterling against both the US dollar and euro. Average order values
improved slightly to £210 (2008: £200). In the Healthcare division benchmark operating profit increased to £4.9m
(2008: £2.7m) primarily as a consequence of the operational efficiencies generated by the new IT system. On-time
collections and deliveries were maintained at 94% (2008: 94%).

Terminated operations
On 2 April 2009 we announced the termination of our Cotswold and Letterbox brands and Findel Direct the
administration function for our cash with order brands. The losses attributable to these operations were £9.9m in
the period, together with the impairment of associated goodwill and intangible assets of £17.3m.

Change in accounting estimates
During the period the group recognised certain changes in accounting estimates.

Debtor provisioning
The group’s historical approach to debtor provisioning was to provide for debtor balances which were in excess of
180 days overdue based on estimated irrecoverable amounts. In the current period the provisioning basis has been
reviewed in light of the changes in the UK economy so as to be aligned with current practices in the retail credit
market. The revised policy makes provision for customers’ balances where an event of default has occurred at the
balance sheet date but has not yet been reported to the group. Under IAS 8 “accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors”, changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the period of change and
future periods. As a result, in the current period, the profit and loss charge in respect of this change in estimate
was £14.4m. If the new basis of estimate had been adopted at 31 March 2008, the additional charge in the period
would have been eliminated.

6 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2009
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Stock provisioning
The reduction of working capital balances forms a fundamental element of the group’s commitment to cash
generation. As part of this programme, the group has significantly rationalised the number of stock lines offered to
its customers. This will release warehouse capacity and in turn materially reduce storage costs. To facilitate this
process the board has concluded that stock lines which have been discontinued should be disposed of on an
accelerated basis. In doing so, although future performance will be enhanced, the value of these stock lines will be
impaired. In the current period, the profit and loss charge in respect of this change in estimate was £14.3m. If the
new basis of estimate had been adopted at 31 March 2008, the additional charge in the period would have been
eliminated.

Exceptional charges
Exceptional costs of £16.4m (2008: £15.9m) were charged to the income statement during the period. These
costs comprised restructuring and integration costs in respect of acquisitions in previous years including employee
severance costs, duplicate operational costs, onerous lease costs, warehouse reorganisations and provisions for
future operating losses.

Change in accounting policies and practices
During the current period the group changed certain accounting policies and practices.

IT development costs
The group has significantly increased its investment in developing and maintaining software systems for managing
the group’s diverse inventory and customer base and associated internet trading capacity over the past 3 to 4
years. The development of software is a continuous process as the business units continue to enhance the
underlying systems and operations, and capitalisation of these costs can continue to be supported against future
cash flows of the businesses involved. Under IAS 38 “Intangible assets” the cessation of capitalisation should occur
when the asset is in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

The board has reviewed the historic, current, and ongoing level and nature of the amounts incurred in software
development. They have determined that the previous practice should be amended such that the cessation of
capitalisation of software development costs occurs when the main projects involving external contractors cease,
and the internal costs of maintaining and enhancing the operating system should be expensed.

The board considers that this is a more robust approach than that adopted in previous years reflecting the
judgemental nature of deciding between whether upgrades to core software systems create a new asset, or
enhance or maintain an existing asset. The effect of the change in accounting policy in respect of IT development
costs is to reduce benchmark operating profit by £3.7m in the period ended 3 April 2009 and £7.4m in the year
ended 31 March 2008.

Brochure costs
Following endorsement by the European Union of “Improvements to IFRSs”, changes to IAS 38 “Intangible assets”
require expenditure on catalogue costs to be written off as incurred. Historically, and in line with a number of similar
companies, the group has prepaid the costs of preparing catalogues until the catalogue has been distributed and
the benefits of sales associated with the costs of the catalogue are being obtained. Whilst not required to be
applied until the financial period ending 2 April 2010, the directors have decided to adopt this early in the current
annual report. The effect of the change in accounting policy in respect of brochure costs is to reduce benchmark
operating profit by £0.3m in the period ended 3 April 2009 and £1.3m in the year ended 31 March 2008.

Share of result of associate
The group’s share of the loss generated by its associate Webb Group Limited (“Webb”) increased from £1.4m to
£4.3m, reflecting the group’s share of an ongoing benchmark profit after tax of £0.4m, reduced by the group’s
share of goodwill impairment charges incurred by the associate of £4.7m. During the current period, interest
income of £4.3m has been recognised in benchmark profit on the loan advanced to the associate.

On 23 July the group completed the acquisition of the 70%. ordinary share capital of The Webb Group Limited
(“Webb”) not already owned by Findel. Greater detail is provided in respect of this transaction in the Chairman’s
statement above.
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FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

Pensions
The group’s defined benefit pension schemes had reduced deficits at the balance sheet date. In order to continue to
improve the funding levels within these schemes, the group made voluntary additional contributions of £3.7m during
the period.

The net deficit for all retirement benefit schemes was £5.9m (2008: £8.6m) net of tax relief at 3 April 2009. This
represents a decrease of 31% during the period. The group remains committed to the reduction of the pension deficit.

Taxation
The group’s effective rate of tax, calculated on a benchmark basis, has decreased from 28.6% to 24.5%. The
reduction in tax charge in the period reflects the impact of the 2% reduction in the headline rate of corporation tax,
the current year benefit of the changes in accounting policy and the release of provisions from earlier years.

Shareholder return and dividends
Benchmark earnings per share were 30.04p compared to 43.02p last year. Basic loss per share was 49.45p
compared to an earnings figure of 19.90p in the comparative period. The board believes that the group’s existing
financial resources should be used to ensure liquidity and to invest in the group’s operations. As such, in addition,
the board has decided not to pay a final dividend for the 2008/09 financial year.

Net assets
Net assets amounted to £54.7m at the period end, a decrease of 51% on last year reflecting the level of other
items charged to the income statement during the period. These net assets are equivalent to 64p per share.

Share price
The share price of Findel ranged from a low of 33.75p per share to a high of 520.5p per share during the financial
period. On 3 April 2009, the mid market price was 86.5p per share, giving a market capitalisation of £74m at
that date.

Cash flow
The group’s net cash from operating activities was an inflow of £38.9m, compared with an outflow of £17.1m
in the previous year. The improvement can be primarily attributed to a significant improvement in working capital
management in the period with inventories and receivables balances decreasing by £33.9m and £38.3m respectively.
Further improvements in working capital, most specifically stock reductions, form a key element of the group’s cash
generation plan.

Additional contributions over and above the normal funding costs of the group’s pension schemes increased from
£2.9m to £3.5m. Tax payments reduced from £4.4m to £2.8m reflecting the reduced profitability of the group
during the financial period.

Interest paid reduced from £27.7m to £24.3m reflecting the decreased cost of borrowing in the period offset by
the higher average borrowings throughout the period.

Net cash used in investing activities reduced significantly from £37.4m to £10.6m. Of the £10.6m outflow in the
period, the large majority related to capital expenditure to improve the group’s operational infrastructure.

Liquidity and funding
The maturity and currency profile of the group’s borrowings are shown in note 25 to the financial statements.

Treasury and risk management
The group’s treasury function seeks to reduce or eliminate exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and other
financial risks, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely
and profitably. It does not engage in speculative transactions and transacts only in relation to underlying business
requirements. It operates policies and procedures which are periodically reviewed by the board and is subject to
regular audit control reviews.
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Interest rate risk management
The group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of
derivative arrangements, details of which are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

At £22.6m, net interest costs were £0.8m higher than last year. This reflects the impact of several factors,
notably the adverse movement on the fair value of derivative financial instruments of £3.4m, the £2.1m increase in
interest receivable from an associate and the increased average borrowings in the period offset by the reduced cost
of borrowing. The benchmark net interest charge was covered 2.7 times by benchmark operating profit.

Currency risk management
A proportion of the products sold through the group’s Home Shopping division are procured through the group’s Far
East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is principally the US dollar, with a proportion being
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The group has a policy of hedging these foreign currency denominated
transactions by entering into forward exchange purchase contracts. At the balance sheet date, the group had
foreign exchange forward contracts to a value of US$12m in place.

Borrowing risk
The group’s exposure to borrowing risk is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions with strong
credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation.

Principal risks and uncertainties
There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could impact the performance of the group over and above the
treasury risks considered above. The group has a comprehensive system of risk management installed within all
parts of its business to mitigate these risks as far as possible, as described in detail in the Corporate Governance
report on pages 20 and 21. The risks relate to three key areas of review by the group being those specific to the
group’s divisions, economic and regulatory risks, and operational risks.

Risks specific to the group’s divisions
The business of the Home Shopping division is seasonal, and is more heavily weighted towards the second half of the
financial year. In the Education division, the September and March “Back-to-School” periods account for much of the
market’s annual sales and profits. The group is focused on delivering high quality of service and being well prepared
for managing peak demand in all of its businesses.

The Education Supplies division could be adversely affected if a local authority were to withdraw “Approved Supplier”
status. Furthermore the Healthcare division may fail to successfully renew existing contracts or win new contracts.
The group is focused on maintaining appropriate quality of service to ensure it retains this supplier status and
retains and wins new contracts.

Any downward movement in government spending on healthcare may adversely impact the performance of the
Healthcare division. As the Healthcare division is a large, efficient supplier of Healthcare products, this may widen
the opportunities available to the group due to its scale and efficiency.

Economic and regulatory risks
The group may be negatively affected by the impact of the recent economic downturn on consumer spending or the
ability of its customers to service their debts. The group has a long track record of managing its customer base to
achieve its twin goals of sales growth and customer credit risk management.

Any reduction in government spending on education may adversely impact the performance of the Education Supplies
division and may in turn have a material adverse effect on the group’s business. As the Educational Supplies division
is a large, efficient supplier of educational products, this may widen the opportunities available to the group due to
its scale and efficiency.

Continued or prolonged withdrawal of credit insurance traditionally provided to the group’s suppliers could have an
adverse effect on the group’s business. In addition the failure of the group to meet its debt obligations or comply
with the terms of its credit facilities could have a similar impact. The group has today announced plans to raise
equity and secure its financing facilities on a long-term basis which will assist in managing supplier relations and
continues to seek to implement its debt reduction programme announced earlier this year.
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FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

Interruptions in the availability or flow of stock from third party product suppliers or defaults by tenants on sub-let
properties could have an adverse effect on the group’s business. To mitigate this risk, the group purchases
products from a wide variety of domestic and international third party product suppliers.

The group’s operations may be adversely affected by legal, regulatory and other developments in countries in which
it operates. The group is subject to a range of legal and regulatory requirements originating from the UK
(particularly the Consumer Credit Act and Data Protection), the other countries in which it operates and the
European Union, particularly in areas of consumer protection, product safety, competition, provision of credit, selling
of financial services and extended warranties, copyright royalties, levies, health and safety, taxation, environment,
labour and employment practices (including pensions). The group manages all of these risks in conjunction with third
party professionals.

Deteriorating markets and reputational risks could result in the impairment of goodwill, intangible assets (including
brands) and property, plant and equipment, which may adversely affect the group’s financial position. The group
focuses on maintaining the highest quality of service to mitigate against any impairment in the value of its
businesses.

Operational risk
The group is dependent on its senior management. The group has entered into employment contracts and taken
other steps to encourage the retention of these individuals, and to identify and retain additional personnel.

The group’s business may be affected by the default of third parties in respect of monies owing by them to the
group. However the majority of amounts owed to the group comprise small balances spread across a large number
of accounts and active consideration of credit risk is carried out throughout the group.

The group has funding risks relating to its defined benefit pension schemes. These schemes are subject to risks
regarding the relative amount of each of the scheme’s assets, which is affected by the value of investments held by
the scheme and the returns derived from such investments, as compared to its liabilities, which are affected by
changes in life expectancy, inflation and future salary increases. To improve the funding of these schemes the group
has agreed funding plans with the schemes’ trustees and as a result makes additional contributions to the
schemes.

The group may fail to keep up with advances in internet technology. Furthermore information technology systems
failure or disruption could impact the group’s day-to-day operations. The group relies heavily on its information
technology systems to record and process transactions and manage its operations as well as to enable its
customers to purchase products on-line and over the phone. The group has seen significant growth in the
proportion of its home shopping sales which are derived from the internet, and these now represent over 60% of
the total sales of the Home Shopping division. The group is focused on investing appropriately in its information
technology systems and maintaining its e-commerce capabilities.

The group is dependent on third parties for outsourcing functions. The group carries out extensive reviews of any
potential outsourcing partner.

Loss of, or disruption to, the group’s distribution centres and administrative sites would have a material adverse
effect on the group’s business. The group has established disaster recovery procedures designed to minimise the
impact of any such disruption.

Accounting policies and standards
The principal accounting policies applied by the group are shown on pages 38 to 45. These accounting policies have
been applied consistently throughout the current and preceding periods, other than certain changes to accounting
policy and practice, principally relating to IT development costs and brochure costs described above and in note 1 to
the financial statements.
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Going concern basis
In determining whether the group’s financial statements for the period ended 3 April 2009 can be prepared on a
going concern basis, the directors considered all factors likely to affect its future development, performance and its
financial position, including cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities and the risks and uncertainties
relating to its business activities in the current economic climate. The key risks and uncertainties are set out in
further detail above.

The directors have recommended to shareholders that the equity funds be raised for the reasons set out in the
prospectus sent separately. In forming their conclusions over the adoption of the going concern basis, the directors
have considered the possibility of the relevant resolutions at the extraordinary general meeting, relating to the
proposed firm placing and placing and open offer not being approved and on the basis of the available evidence have
considered this possibility to be remote.

In addition, the directors have considered the group's facilities which in varying amounts are available until
September 2012. These facilities will be available both in the event of additional equity funds being raised, or
without additional equity but including more onerous conditions as highlighted in the Chairman’s statement above.
The directors have also considered the possibility of the relevant resolution at the extraordinary general meeting
relating to the changes to the company's articles associated with its level of financing not being approved, and on
the basis of the available evidence have considered this possibility to be remote.

The directors have reviewed the group’s trading and cash flow forecasts as part of their going concern assessment,
including reasonable downside sensitivities which take into account the uncertainties in the current operating
environment.

In the event of additional equity funds being raised, or without the additional equity, the directors believe that the
group will be able to comply with its covenants and satisfy its repayment obligations in respect of the banking
facilities within the 12 months following the date of signing the accounts. To the extent the group may be unable to
continue to do so over the longer term, it may be required to refinance or renegotiate the terms of those facilities,
including the covenants.

Taking into account the above uncertainties and circumstances, the directors’ have a reasonable expectation that
the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the group’s annual consolidated financial
statements.

Chris Hinton
Group Finance Director

www.findel.co.uk 11

O
V
E
R
V
IE
W

1
—
5

FIN
A
N
C
IA
L
R
E
V
IE
W

6
—
1
1

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E

1
2
—
3
1

FIN
A
N
C
IA
L
S
TATE

M
E
N
TS

3
2
—
8
6

S
H
A
R
E
H
O
LD

E
R
IN
FO

R
M
ATIO

N
8
7
—
9
2



DIRECTORS AND ADVISORS

12 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2009

Executive Chairman K Chapman

Chief Executive P E Jolly, LLB

Company Secretary I J Bolton, BSc, PhD

Chief Operating Officer P B Maudsley

Finance Director C D Hinton, ACA

Non-executive G P Craig*

M L Hawker*

D A Johnson, BSc (Econ), FCA

S S McKay*

* Member of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees

Secretary and I J Bolton
Registered Office Burley House

Bradford Road
Burley-in-Wharfedale
Ilkley
West Yorkshire
LS29 7DZ

Company Number: 549034

Auditors Deloitte LLP
1 City Square
Leeds
West Yorkshire
LS1 2AL

Registrars Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BN99 6ZL

Principal Bankers Allied Irish Banks plc
Barclays Bank plc
HBOS plc
HSBC Bank plc
Lloyds TSB Group plc
National Australia Bank Limited
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Activities
The principal activities of the group are home shopping and educational supplies sales through mail order catalogues
and the provision of outsourced healthcare services.

Review of the Year and Future Prospects
The key performance indicators which management consider are important comprise:

� operating margins;

� average order value;

� retention rates in Home Shopping; and

� on-time collections and deliveries within Healthcare.

These can be found within the Chairman’s Statement and Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 11, along with a
review of the group’s activities, the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and its future prospects.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 2.20p (2008: 4.70p) per share was paid on 9 January 2009. The directors have determined
that no final dividend will be paid (2008: 17.50p).

Capital Structure
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the company’s issued
share capital during the year are shown in note 30.

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right to
one vote at general meetings of the company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by
the general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The directors are not aware of any
agreements between holders of the company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities
or on voting rights.

Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 29. Shares held by the Findel plc Employee Benefit Trust
abstain from voting.

No person has any special rights of control over the company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors, the company is governed by its Articles of
Association, the Combined Code, the Companies Acts and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be
amended by special resolution of the shareholders. The powers of directors are described in the Main Board Terms
of Reference, copies of which are available on request, and the Corporate Governance Statement on page 17.

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company
such as commercial contracts, bank loan agreements, property lease arrangements and employees’ share plans.
Given the directors consider a change of control to be unlikely, none of these are considered to be significant in
terms of their likely impact on the business of the group as a whole. Furthermore, the directors are not aware of
any agreements between the company and its directors or employees that provide for compensation for loss of
office or employment that occurs as a consequence of a takeover bid, other than as disclosed in the Board Report
on Directors’ Remuneration.

A resolution will be proposed at the annual general meeting authorising the directors to allot shares and other
securities of the company and empowering them in certain limited circumstances to issue shares for cash without
first being required to offer such shares to existing shareholders. If the resolutions to increase the company’s
share capital and to allot new shares proposed to be passed at the company’s forthcoming general meeting to be
held on 10 August 2009 are passed and the resolutions proposed at the annual general meeting are passed the
directors will be able to allot 161,515,918 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £8,075,795 representing 33% of
the issued share capital and will be able to issue 24,472,108 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £1,223,605
representing 5% of the issued share capital for cash without first offering them to existing shareholders. If the
resolution authorising the directors to allot shares and other securities of the company is passed at the annual
general meeting but the resolutions to increase the company’s share capital and to allot new shares are not passed
at the general meeting on 10 August 2009, the directors will be able to allot 9,869,948 ordinary shares with a
total nominal value of £493,497 representing 11.59% of the issued share capital and will be able to allot and issue
4,256,502 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £212,825 representing 5% of the issued share capital for cash
without first offering them to existing shareholders.
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A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to renew the authority for the company to
purchase up to 10% of its own shares. The authority would only be exercised when it was in the best interests of
shareholders and would be expected to lead to an increase in earnings per share.

The directors consider these resolutions to be in the best interests of the shareholders as a whole and unanimously
recommend that shareholders vote in favour of all resolutions.

Supplier Payment Policy
The policy of the company is to agree in advance the terms of payment with suppliers, ensure suppliers are made
aware of those terms and to abide by such terms. The company’s trade creditors at 3 April 2009 represented
66 creditor days (2008: 11 days) based on the total amounts invoiced by suppliers during the year.

Directors
The directors of the company at the date of this report are shown on page 12. Information concerning their
interests in the share capital of the company is included in the Board Report on Directors’ Remuneration on
page 28. All the directors served throughout the year. Mr Jolly, Mr Craig and Mr Hawker will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting. Dr Bolton and Mr Johnson will also
retire, but have decided not to seek re-election.

Mr K Chapman (66, executive chairman)
Keith Chapman joined the Findel board in March 1984 and was subsequently appointed group managing director
and then chairman and chief executive in January 1988.

Mr P E Jolly (43, chief executive)
Patrick Jolly joined the board in March 2001 as a non-executive director and was subsequently appointed chief
executive in May 2006. He is an experienced corporate finance lawyer and was previously an executive director of
SurfControl plc.

Dr I J Bolton (65, executive director and company secretary)
Ivan Bolton has been with the group for over 25 years in a number of senior commercial roles and was appointed to
the board in 1989. He has a BSc and a PhD from Leeds University and had ten years industrial experience before
joining the group.

Mr P B Maudsley (48, chief operating officer)
Philip Maudsley joined the group in 1987 as general manager of a manufacturing subsidiary. He became managing
director of the Home Shopping division in 1994 and was appointed to the board on 6 April 2004. He was
subsequently appointed group managing director in December 2004 and then chief operating officer in May 2006.

Mr C D Hinton (39, group finance director)
Chris Hinton joined the board in October 2007. He has a strong background in corporate finance and was previously
group finance director of Lorien plc.

Mr G P Craig (62, non-executive director)
Gordon Craig joined the board in October 1997. Until his retirement in 1997 he was a director of M & G Investment
Management Limited. He is now the chairman of Stirling Group Limited.

Mr M L Hawker (59, non-executive director)
Mike Hawker joined the board in July 2006, having previously been Chief Executive of Otto (UK). Prior to his position
at Otto (UK), he was Chief Executive of Redcats Group and prior to that, a Director of Sears plc.

Mr D A Johnson (65, non-executive director)
Tony Johnson joined Findel in 1988 as group finance director and became the group managing director in 1994. In
1997, following the de-merger of Creative Publishing, he was appointed group chief executive. He was appointed
deputy chairman in December 2004 and relinquished this role in July 2006 at which time he was appointed as a
non-executive director.

Mr S S McKay (62, non-executive director)
Stuart McKay joined the board in July 2007. He has over 35 years’ experience in stationery supplies and retailing.

Employees
The company recognises its social and statutory duty to employ disabled persons and pursues a policy of providing,
wherever possible, the same employment opportunities to disabled persons as to others. Information to employees
regarding the company and factors affecting its performance and that of its subsidiaries is provided through normal
management channels and regular consultation.



Donations
During the year the group made charitable donations of £74,995 (2008: £72,716). There were no donations for
political purposes.

Substantial Shareholdings
In addition to the directors’ interests set out in the remuneration report, the company has been notified of the
following interests in its share capital at 20 July 2009:

Proportion Number Proportion
Number of Share of voting of voting

of Shares Capital rights rights
Material interests of 3% or more
Schroders plc 24,831,682 29.16% 21,891,899 25.71%
Henderson Global Investors 6,294,305 7.39% 6,294,305 7.39%
AXA S.A. 5,933,487 6.96% 5,933,487 6.96%
Legal & General Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited 3,877,174 4.55% 3,600,666 4.22%

Auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved:

� so far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act
1985) of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and

� each of the directors has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of
any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234 ZA of Companies Act
1985.

Deloitte LLP have notified their willingness to continue as auditors of the company and their re-appointment will be
proposed at the annual general meeting.

By order of the board
I J Bolton
Secretary

24 July 2009
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Corporate Governance Report
The company is committed to business integrity, high ethical values and professionalism in all its activities. As an
essential part of this commitment the group supports the highest standards in corporate governance.

The board is accountable to the company’s shareholders for good governance and this statement and the Board
Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 23 to 29 describe how the principles of good governance set out in
the revised Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006, are
applied within the company.

Compliance
The company complied throughout the period with the provisions of the 2006 Combined Code Principles of Good
Governance and Code of Best Practice, except in the following aspects:

A.2.2 The chairman was previously the chief executive.

A.3.2 At least half the board, excluding the chairman, has not comprised independent non-executive directors.

Predominantly, the areas of non-compliance set out above arise as a result of previous changes in the composition
and structure of the board. To the extent possible, the board is seeking to address these issues.

The company’s auditors, Deloitte LLP, are required to review whether the above statement reflects the company’s
compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined Code specified for its review by the Listing Rules and to report
if it does not reflect such compliance.

We are committed to high standards of corporate governance. Currently less than half of the board are independent
non-executive directors. The board is keeping the situation under review and will continue to strive to become
compliant whilst maintaining an appropriate balance between refreshment and continuity.

The Board
As at 3 April 2009, the board was made up of nine members comprising the executive chairman, Mr K Chapman,
the chief executive, Mr P E Jolly, three other executive directors and four non-executive directors. The non-executive
directors, except for Mr D A Johnson, are considered by the board to be independent of management and free of
any relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. Biographical
details of each of the directors, which illustrate their range of experience, are set out on page 14.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive is clearly established and is understood by
the board. The executive chairman is responsible for the overall strategy of the group with the chief executive officer
being responsible for implementing the strategy and for the day-to-day running of the group; he is assisted by the
other executive directors.

The senior independent director is Mr G P Craig and he is the director whom shareholders may contact if they feel
their concerns are not being addressed through the normal channels. The non-executive directors meet at least
once a year without the executive directors present.

Directors are subject to election at the annual general meeting immediately following their appointment and to
re-election every three years. Any director attaining the age of 70 or, being a non-executive director having served
for seven years on the board, is subject to re-election annually.

Dr I J Bolton has decided to retire as an executive director, as he has reached the age of 65 and also to aid
compliance with the Code of Best Practice. He remains as company secretary but is not seeking re-election as a
director at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Every year the board assesses whether each non-executive director is independent against the criteria set out in
the Combined Code. Mr Craig was first elected at an annual general meeting on 1 July 1998 and has since then
served for approximately ten years. The Nomination Committee and the board have reviewed his performance as
part of our board evaluation and concluded that he makes an effective and valuable contribution as a non-executive
director and in his roles on the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees and has challenged the
executive directors in an independent manner. We have therefore reaffirmed our view that he is independent in
character and judgement. In line with the recommendations of the Code, Mr Craig will stand for re-election by
shareholders each year.



Mr D A Johnson retired as an executive director on 3 July 2006 and was re-elected to the board at the annual
general meeting as a non-executive director. In line with corporate governance best practice, he has been subject to
re-election annually. Mr Johnson who also has a consultancy agreement with the company, is not considered to be
an independent non-executive director. As he has reached the age of 65 and also in order to aid compliance with the
Code of Best Practice, Mr Johnson has decided to retire as a director and is not seeking re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Following the annual performance evaluation of the non-executive directors subject to election or re-election, the
board confirms that each individual’s performance has been effective throughout the last year and they have
continued to demonstrate commitment to their role.

In order to further comply with the Code of Best Practice good progress has been made in the recruitment of a new
senior independent director to take over that responsibility from Mr Craig. A search is also continuing for a further
independent non-executive director.

Board Procedures
The board met formally on six occasions during the period and individual attendance at those and the Board
Committee meetings is set out in the table below. All board members are supplied with information in a form and of
a quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their duties. Board and committee papers are sent out as
appropriate before meetings take place.

In addition to matters statutorily reserved for a board, there is an agreed Schedule of Matters reserved for the
board for collective decision including:

� determining the strategy and control of the group;

� amendments to the structure and capital of the group;

� approval of financial reporting and internal controls;

� approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a significant size;

� acquisitions and disposals above a prescribed level; and

� corporate governance matters and approval of group policies and risk management strategies.

To enable the board to perform its duties effectively all directors have full access to all relevant information and to
the services of the company secretary whose responsibility it is for ensuring that board procedures are followed.
The appointment and removal of the company secretary is a matter reserved for the board. There is an agreed
procedure whereby directors wishing to take independent legal advice in the furtherance of their duties may do so
at the company’s expense. Appropriate training is available to all directors on appointment and on an ongoing basis
as required.

The terms of reference for each of the Board Committees is available on request from the company secretary or on
the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk).

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The following table shows the attendance of directors at meetings of the board and of the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees of the board during the period to 3 April 2009:

AuditRemuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

K Chapman 6 * * *
I J Bolton 6 * * *
C D Hinton 6 * * *
P E Jolly 5 * * *
P B Maudsley 6 * * *
G P Craig 6 3 2 1
M L Hawker 6 3 2 1
D A Johnson 6 * * *
S S McKay 6 3 2 1
Number of meetings in the year 6 3 2 1

* where an asterisk appears in the table the director listed is not a member of the committee.
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Board Effectiveness
During the year an appraisal of the board, each Board Committee, and the performance of the individual directors
was carried out. The appraisal of the board and the committees was undertaken using questionnaires which were
completed by each director as appropriate. A summary of the responses was reviewed by the chairman prior to the
submission of the results to the whole board.

Formal appraisals of the executive and non-executive directors’ individual performance were conducted by the
chairman by holding a meeting with each director.

The non-executive directors, chaired by the senior independent director, meet once a year without the chairman
present to assess his performance. The senior independent director then discusses the results of that assessment
with the chairman.

Relations with Shareholders
The company recognises the importance of communicating with its shareholders, including its employee shareholders,
to ensure that its strategy and performance are understood. This is achieved principally through the Half Year
Report, Interim Management Statements, the Annual Report and the annual general meeting. In addition, a range of
corporate information is available to investors on the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk).

The chairman, the chief executive, the chief operating officer and the group finance director are primarily responsible
for investor relations. Feedback from major shareholders is reported to the board and discussed at its meetings.
Formal presentations are made to institutional shareholders following the announcement of the company’s full year
and half year results. During the year the senior independent director has been available to meet with institutional
shareholders if requested. Although the non-executive directors are not at present asked to meet the company’s
shareholders, their attendance at presentations of the annual results is encouraged. The board recognises that the
annual general meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholders. All directors normally attend
the annual general meeting and are available to answer any questions that shareholders may wish to raise. The
Notice of Meeting is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting. Shareholders vote on a
show of hands, unless a poll is validly called and after each such vote the number of proxy votes received for and
against the resolution is announced.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under written terms of reference and is comprised of only independent
non-executive directors. The chairman is Mr Hawker. The committee’s report is set out on pages 23 to 29.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee operates under written terms of reference. Its principal duty is the nomination of
suitable candidates for the approval of the board to fill executive and non-executive vacancies on the board. The
Nomination Committee comprises the independent non-executive directors and its chairman is Mr Craig.

The committee’s responsibilities include:

� regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition including the skills, knowledge and experience required of
the board compared to its current position and make recommendations to the board with regard to any changes;

� giving full consideration to succession planning for directors and other senior executives in the course of its
work, taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing the company and what skills and expertise are
therefore needed on the board in the future;

� being responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval of the board candidates to fill board vacancies as
and when they arise;

� before making an appointment, evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the board and, in the
light of this evaluation prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment;

� keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting the company and
the market in which it depends;

� reviewing annually the time required for non-executive directors. Performance evaluation should be used to
assess whether the non-executive directors are spending enough time to fulfil their duties;

� ensuring that on appointment to the board, non-executive directors receive a formal letter of appointment
setting out clearly what is expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee service and involvement
outside board meetings;
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� keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation, both executive and non-executive, with a view to
ensuring the continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the marketplace;

� advising the board on succession planning for executive board appointments; and

� considering any other matters the board may request.

Following the appointment of a new director, the chief executive in conjunction with the company secretary, is
responsible for ensuring that a full, formal and tailored induction to the company and to his function within the
company is given.

The group utilises the services of executive search consultants to identify prospective candidates where
appropriate.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee operates under written terms of reference, which were reviewed during the year, meets at
least three times a year and is comprised of only independent non-executive directors. Mr G P Craig, the senior
non-executive director, chairs the committee. The committee, taken as a whole, is considered to have significant
recent and relevant financial experience. The expertise and experience of the members of the committee are
summarised on page 14. The group finance director normally attends meetings by invitation and the committee
also meets with the external auditors without management present.

The external auditors attended all of the meetings (in part if appropriate) and have direct access to the committee
chairman. The company secretary acts as secretary to the committee. The chairman of the committee attends the
annual general meeting to respond to any shareholder questions that might be raised on the committee’s activities.

The committee’s responsibilities include:

� reviewing the effectiveness of the group’s financial reporting and internal control procedures for the identification,
assessment and reporting of risks;

� reviewing with the external auditors the nature and scope of their planned work;

� reviewing the half year and annual financial statements before submission to the board, focusing particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgemental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumption;

(v) compliance with accounting standards;

(vi) compliance with applicable stock exchange and legal requirements.

� discussing any problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the auditors
may wish to discuss (in the absence of the executive directors and other management, where necessary);

� reviewing the cost-effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

� considering the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response; and

� considering any other matters the board may request.

The committee has the power to engage outside advisers if it considers it to be necessary.

The committee met three times in the year and its agenda is linked to events in the company’s financial calendar.
The agenda is mostly cyclical such that the committee chairman approves the agenda on behalf of all members. Each
member may require reports on matters of interest in addition to the regular items.

The committee also reviews the “whistleblowing” policy under which employees may in confidence notify the company
of any concerns, including inter alia matters involving financial reporting. It also reviews the procedures for
investigating and resolving any such concerns. A copy of the whistleblowing policy is available on the company’s
website (www.findel.co.uk). The board is aware of the need to maintain an appropriate degree of independence and
objectivity on the part of the group external auditors when engaged in non-audit assignments. Both the Audit
Committee and the external auditors have safeguards in place to avoid such independence and objectivity being
compromised.

The committee also liaises with the external auditors on the continuity and rotation of key partners from the
external auditors in accordance with the Ethical Standards of the ICAEW.
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The group policy on the provision by the external auditors of audit and non-audit services, which is based on the
principle that the external auditors should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate
provider, categorises such services between:

� Auditor permitted services – Those services which are acceptable for the auditors to provide and the provision of
which can be engaged without referral to the Audit Committee. (e.g. regulatory and other specialist financial
reporting);

� Auditor excluded services – Those engagements that the Audit Committee and the board do not consider
appropriate for the auditors to undertake (e.g. provision of outsourced financial or operational management
functions);

� Auditor authorised services – Those services for which it is appropriate to consider the use of the external
auditors and for which the specific approval of the Audit Committee is required before the auditors are permitted
to provide the service (e.g. transaction support and advisory work, such as due diligence).

The policy defines the types of services falling under each category and sets out the criteria to be met and the
internal approvals required prior to the commencement of any assignment. The Audit Committee reviews an analysis
of all services provided by the external auditors. The policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee and approved
by the board.

This disclosure of the fees payable to Deloitte LLP for both audit and non-audit services performed during the year
is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. A breakdown of the non-audit fees is included in the
same note. The external auditors and committee chairman have regular dialogue concerning matters of
independence and a report is made formally to the committee on this matter at least once a year. The Audit
Committee is satisfied with the level of fees, independence, objectivity and effectiveness of Deloitte LLP. Accordingly
a resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as auditors of the company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The group does not have a dedicated internal audit function. The board annually reviews the need for such a function
and has done so during the year. The group does however have a function which performs a number of internal audit
tasks across the divisions and this, together with the fact that during the year, there were no adverse trends
evident from the monitoring of internal controls or unexpected or unacceptable results of a material nature, has led
the board to conclude that at present a dedicated internal audit function is not necessary. The board will continue
to keep this matter under review.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The board is responsible for the group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It is the role
of management to implement the board’s policies on risk and control through the design and operation of
appropriate internal control systems. For the whole of the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts, the board has had formal procedures in place to ensure that it is in a position to
consider all the significant aspects of internal control and has worked closely with the external auditors in assessing
and ensuring their effectiveness.

The board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control. This review
has covered all controls including operational, compliance and risk management procedures, as well as financial. The
formal process followed, and reviewed by the board, to assess the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal
control accords with the guidance set out in the Turnbull Report “Internal Control: Guidance for directors on the
Combined Code”, and is part of the ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
faced by the group. This process is summarised as follows:

� Operating management is charged with the ongoing responsibility for identifying risks facing each of the
operating units and for putting in place procedures to mitigate, manage and monitor risks;

� Operating units formally review all business risks and set out the significant risks to the operations, the controls
in place and additional controls which could be implemented. These proposals are approved by each operating
unit’s management and submitted in the form of risk action plans to group executive management for review and
approval. Any significant matters arising from this review are formally reported to the board by the finance
director to ensure that appropriate initiatives are developed and implemented to manage those risks. The board
is advised in this process by the Audit Committee;

� The risk and control identification and management process is monitored and periodically reviewed by group
executive management;
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� The key elements of the controls framework within which the group operates are:

– an organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility, delegation of authority and reporting
requirements;

– an embedded culture of openness of communication between operating company management and the group
executive management on matters relating to risk and control;

– defined expenditure authorisation levels;

– operating reviews covering all aspects of each business are conducted by group executive management each
quarter;

– a comprehensive system of financial reporting. An annual budget for each operating company is prepared in
detail and approved by the chairman and the chief executive. The board approves the overall group’s budget
and plans. Monthly actual results are reported against budget and prior year and the forecast for the year
is revised where necessary. Any significant changes and adverse variances are questioned by the board and
remedial action is taken where appropriate. There is weekly cash and treasury reporting to the group
finance director and periodic reporting to the board on the group’s tax and treasury position.

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business
objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The risk framework as outlined above, gives reasonable assurance that the structure of controls in operation is
appropriate to the group’s situation and that there is an acceptable level of risk throughout the business.

The board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
faced by the group; that this has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

Going Concern
After making enquiries the directors have formed a judgement that, as set out in the Finance Director’s Review
at the time of approving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason the directors continue
to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the Financial Statements.

Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements. The directors are
required to prepare financial statements for the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and have chosen to prepare those for the company in accordance with UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”).

In the case of UK GAAP accounts the directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for
that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

� make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

� state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and

� prepare financial statements on a going concern basis.

In the case of IFRS accounts, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly
for each financial year the company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions
and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the International Accounting
Standards Board’s “Framework for the preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements”. In virtually all
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards. Directors are also required to:

� properly select and apply accounting policies;

� present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information; and
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� provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation of a directors’ report and
directors’ remuneration report which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge:

1. the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

2. the management report, which is incorporated into the directors’ report, includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position of the company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties they face.

By order of the board
P E Jolly C D Hinton
Chief executive Finance director

24 July 2009 24 July 2009

22 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2009



BOARD REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002
(the “Regulations”) which introduced new statutory requirements for the disclosure of directors’ remuneration in
respect of periods ending on or after 31 December 2002. The report also meets the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the board has applied the principles of
good governance relating to directors’ remuneration. As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve the
report will be proposed at the annual general meeting of the company.

The information set out in the following section of the report is not subject to audit.

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration of the executive directors, including the chairman, is determined by the Remuneration Committee.
Members of the committee are the independent non-executive directors, who were Mr G P Craig, Mr M L Hawker
and Mr S S McKay throughout the year. The chairman was Mr Hawker. No member of the committee has any
personal financial interest, other than as a shareholder, in the matters to be decided, nor any potential conflict of
interest arising from cross-directorships, nor has he any day-to-day involvement in running the business.

The chairman of the company normally attends meetings of the committee by invitation except when matters
concerning his own remuneration are discussed. The committee is assisted when required by Hewitt New Bridge
Street, who are appointed by the committee and who provide no other services to the company.

The Remuneration Committee meets two or more times a year. Individual attendance details can be found within the
Corporate Governance Report. The committee’s terms of reference are available on the company’s website
(www.findel.co.uk); its responsibilities include:

� determining the specific remuneration of each of the directors and the terms of their service agreements
(in particular, the term and any notice period);

� advising on and monitoring all performance-related formulae;

� administering all aspects of the share-based incentive schemes operated by the company from time to time,
including noting award levels made outside of the executive director population;

� reviewing on a continuing basis the company’s policy on executive remuneration;

� having regard, in the performance of the above duties, to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the
recommendations set out in the Combined Code annexed to the Listing Rules and any other published guidelines
or recommendations regarding the remuneration of directors of listed companies which the committee considers
relevant or appropriate;

� considering and making recommendations to the board concerning disclosure of details of remuneration packages
and structures in addition to those required by law or by the UK Listing Authority or the London Stock
Exchange; and

� considering such other matters as may be requested by the board.

Policy on Remuneration of Executive Directors
The remuneration policy for executive directors is to offer a remuneration package which will attract and retain the
highest calibre of executive and to ensure that individual rewards and incentives are properly aligned with personal
performance, the performance of the group, and the interests of shareholders. A significant proportion of total
remuneration is expected each year to be performance related. This policy is expected to continue in future years.

Remuneration policy is reviewed regularly and the Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the current policy does
not encourage undue risk-taking. In light of the prevailing economic circumstances and difficult trading conditions
basic salaries will be frozen, no annual bonuses were earned or paid for the year under review and award levels
under the Performance Share Plan were scaled back from award levels made in prior years (as a multiple of salary).
The performance conditions were also revised to better reflect the current overriding corporate objective of
reducing debt.
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BOARD REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Full details of each element of the current remuneration package are set out below, which include basic salary and
benefits, performance related bonus, long term incentives and pension rights. The main elements are:

(i) Basic salary and benefits
The level of basic salary and benefits is determined by the Remuneration Committee taking into account the
performance of the individual and advice and information from independent sources on the rates of salary for
similar positions. Individual salaries of executive directors are normally reviewed annually by the committee to
maintain appropriate relativities within the executive director population and within a general policy that base
salary levels are set with regard to market median level in relation to similar sized UK listed businesses and
considering other elements of the package. Taking into consideration the continuing difficult trading conditions
it is not intended to award any salary increases for the current financial year.

Benefits normally include the provision of a car, fuel, private medical insurance, permanent health insurance and
home telephone costs.

(ii) Performance related bonus
Executive directors each receive an annual performance related bonus of up to 100% of basic salary in line with
general FTSE 250 market practice. These payments are dependent on achievement of stretching profit targets
and other key criteria. The targets are set at levels which are challenging in relation to budgets which take
account of the current economic environment and are aligned with enhancing the performance of the group.

No bonuses were earned or paid in the year under review as stated above. For the current financial year the
bonus targets have been tailored to the short term objectives of the company, namely the reduction of debt
whilst maintaining an acceptable level of return on capital employed. No bonuses will be earned unless minimum
levels of threshold performance are delivered which are consistent with budgeted performance. Maximum
payment can only be earned as a result of performance well above budgeted levels.

(iii) Share option
Executive directors have a continuing interest in share options previously granted as detailed below, however no
options have been granted during the year and it is not the Remuneration Committee’s intention to make
further share option awards.

(iv) Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The Remuneration Committee reviews the long term incentives offered to executive directors on an ongoing
basis to ensure they remain appropriate given the current needs of the business and wider best practice
investor guidelines.

The PSP is the sole long term incentive arrangement which is now offered to executive directors.

Prior year awards were subject to a challenging sliding scale of earnings per share (EPS) growth targets and
relative total shareholder return targets (TSR). For the awards made in the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee revised the targets to better reflect the primary objective of debt reduction. Full details of the
revised conditions are set out below with details of targets for past awards set out below the table included on
page 28.

Awards granted in 2008/09 were scaled back when compared to prior years (expressed as a multiple of salary)
in accord with the best practice guidance issued by institutional shareholders in response to the current
challenging economic conditions.

The PSP was approved by shareholders at the 2006 annual general meeting with details as set out below:

Maximum award limit
Executive directors and senior managers are eligible to receive conditional awards of Performance Shares up to
a value of 150% of salary in any year. In exceptional circumstances, such as recruitment, awards may be up to
200% of salary.
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Awards granted in 2007/08 were made at 150% of salary to the executive directors, excluding the chairman
and the company secretary who did not participate in that year. During the year under review awards were made
to the executive directors, except the company secretary, at 100% of their salaries and to the company
secretary at 60% of his full-time equivalent salary. These awards were based on the prevailing share price
of 81.75p.

It should also be noted that while the chairman and the company secretary had not participated in the PSP in
prior years, given the business criticality of the targets set for the awards made in the year under review, it
was felt wholly appropriate that these directors were aligned with the other executive directors.

Performance conditions
As set out above, the performance conditions that applied to the awards made in the year under review were
structured to be fully aligned with the internal debt reduction targets and also take due account of the debt
repayment due to the group’s banks under its current loan and overdraft facilities and those it has been
discussing with its lenders in relation to future funding.

The actual target requires the repayment of a minimum of £100m of debt over the course of the three financial
years ending 31 March 2011. While the structure of the target is a hurdle rate which is unusual in terms of
wider market practice, this was felt appropriate so that management were fully focused on this key objective.
Further, to ensure the target is balanced and does not encourage inappropriate behaviour there is a
supplementary requirement that return on capital employed must be at least 17% in the financial year ending
31 March 2011. For the purposes of clarity, if the company completes a successful equity issue (or any
subsequent fundraising), then any funds realised from such fundraising would not be eligible to count towards
the satisfaction of the £100m debt repayment target.

To determine whether the performance target has actually been met at the end of the three-year performance
period, the level of debt reduction and the return on capital employed will be calculated by the company and
verified by the Remuneration Committee. If the performance target has not been met, no part of the awards will
vest and the awards will lapse.

With regard to the performance targets that will apply to the financial year 2010 awards, these are currently
under review and will be fully disclosed in next year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report.

(v) Shareholding guidelines
At the same time as introducing the PSP the Remuneration Committee introduced share ownership guidelines.
Executive directors are expected to retain no fewer than 50% of any shares delivered under the PSP net of
taxes until such time as a shareholding equivalent to 100% of their base salary has been achieved.

(vi) Pension rights
Generally, the policy for executive directors’ pension arrangements is to offer a contribution towards the
executive’s pension arrangement. During the period the company has contributed 20% of Mr P E Jolly’s basic
salary into his SIPP and has provided 12% of Mr C D Hinton’s basic salary for contribution into his personal
pension arrangement.

The other executive directors have historically participated in the company’s defined benefit pension
arrangement (the Findel Group Pension Fund (the “Fund”)) which targeted a pension of up to two-thirds of final
pensionable earnings at a normal retirement age of either 60 or 65.

Mr Maudsley remains a member of the Fund, however he no longer accrues benefits under the pension Scheme,
instead electing to receive a cash equivalent contribution into a personal pension arrangement. The amount
during the period was £83,064.

Mr K Chapman is no longer a member of the Fund but receives a contribution to his personal arrangement in lieu
of the value of pension benefits. The amount during the period was £69,181.

Dr Bolton is no longer a member of the Fund having elected to take a transfer value out of the Scheme. He
accrued no pension benefits during the period.

The contributions to personal pension arrangements are lower from the company’s perspective than the cost of
providing benefits under the defined benefit scheme.
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BOARD REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Performance Graph
The following graph contrasts the total shareholder return of the company (calculated in accordance with The
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002) with the FTSE 350 General Retailers Index. This index was
selected as being, in the opinion of the committee, the most appropriate for comparison because the group has,
for the majority of the period, been a member of the FTSE 350.

Service Agreements
It continues to be the Remuneration Committee’s policy that service agreements for executive directors should be
terminable on not more than 12 months’ notice, in line with current market practice. In the event of early
termination of a service agreement, the committee would consider appropriate use of mitigation and phased
compensation payments.

Mr Chapman’s service agreement is terminable subject to one year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
12 June 1989 and has been subsequently varied, most recently with effect from 1 April 2003. On a change of
control (as defined in his contract), the company is deemed to have automatically given notice of termination of the
service agreement. Mr Chapman would, therefore, be entitled to a damages payment of 1 times current base salary
together with an amount equal to the average of benefits in kind and bonus payable over each of the three previous
years. The board would also use such discretions as it may have to allow Mr Chapman to exercise any outstanding
share options.

Dr Bolton’s service agreement is terminable subject to one year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
12 June 1989 and has been subsequently varied, most recently with effect from 1 April 2003. On a change of control
(as defined in his contract), the company is deemed to have automatically given notice of termination of the service
agreement. Dr Bolton would, therefore, be entitled to a damages payment of 1 times current base salary together
with an amount equal to the average of benefits in kind and bonus payable over each of the three previous years.

The terms of the other executive directors’ service contracts are fully consistent with the policy set out above, with
Mr Chapman and Dr Bolton’s contractual terms being the result of legacy agreements. The Remuneration Committee
would not anticipate replicating the terms of these contracts for any new agreements.

The other executive directors’ contracts (Mr Maudsley, dated 6 October 1997, Mr Jolly, dated 11 May 2006 and
Mr Hinton dated 21 February 2007) are subject to one year’s notice by either party, contain no provision for
compensation to be payable on early termination and, in determining any compensation payable on early termination,
the committee would seek to ensure that full account was taken of the director’s duty to mitigation.

Findel plc 5-year total return v total return of FTSE 350 General Retailers Index
(3 month rolling average)
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The appointment of non-executive directors is for an initial period of three years, subject to review and re-election
at General Meeting. They do not have service agreements. The Letter of Appointment for Mr G P Craig was dated
18 August 1997, for Mr D A Johnson 11 May 2006, for Mr M L Hawker 28 June 2006 and for Mr S S McKay
22 June 2007.

The remuneration of the non-executive directors takes the form solely of fees, which are set by the board having
taken advice on appropriate levels. The current fee of Mr Craig is £40,000 per annum, and of Mr Johnson,
Mr Hawker and Mr McKay is £37,500 per annum. Mr Johnson also receives £60,000 per annum for consultancy
services under separate arrangements, which can be terminated at any time on six months’ notice by either party.
There is no entitlement to compensation for loss of office in connection with the termination of the services of the
non-executive directors.

The information set out in the following section of the report is subject to audit.

(i) Emoluments of the directors
The emoluments of the directors in the period ended 3 April 2009 are shown below:

Salary/fees Annual Long Term Benefits 2009 2008
Bonus Incentives/ in Kind Total Total

Bonuses
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive
K Chapman 469 — — 30 499 814
I J Bolton 100 — — 29 129 450
D B Dutton — — — — — 489
P E Jolly 420 — — 27 447 826
P B Maudsley 503 — — 27 530 985
C D Hinton 352 — — 24 376 107

Non-executive
G P Craig 40 — — — 40 39
M L Hawker 38 — — — 38 37
D A Johnson 38 — — 1 39 156
S S McKay 38 — — — 38 28
J M F Padovan — — — — — 9

Total 1,998 — — 138 2,136 3,940

The figures above represent emoluments paid to directors during the relevant financial period. Such emoluments
are paid in the same financial period in which they are earned with the exception of the annual performance related
bonuses, which are paid in the period following that in which they are earned and the long-term incentives which by
their nature relate to a number of years. As set out earlier, no annual performance related bonuses were earned in
the period ended 3 April 2009, for payment in the following period. Included in the salary/fees column above for
Messrs Chapman, Maudsley and Hinton are payments into their personal arrangements in lieu of company pension
contributions of £69,181, £83,064 and £52,000 respectively (see page 25).

Benefits in kind comprise the private use of a motor car, private health insurance and home telephone costs.

(ii) Directors’ pension entitlements
Mr P B Maudsley is a current member of the Findel Group Pension Fund (the “Fund”) a defined benefit scheme.
He is the only director who has accrued entitlements under the Fund as follows:

Increase Transfer Accrued Accrued Increase Transfer Transfer Increase
in value of pension pension in value of value of in

accrued increase 3 April 31 March accrued accrued accrued transfer
pension 2009 2008 pension pension pension value

excluding including 3 April 31 March over the
inflation inflation 2009 2008 period
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

P B Maudsley 7 62 104 93 11 926 630 296

There are no further contributions for Mr Maudsley, who has Enhanced Protection.

The pension entitlements shown above are those which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to the
end of the period, but exclude any future statutory entitlement to increases, up to retirement. The transfer values
have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11.

The transfer values disclosed above do not represent a sum paid or payable to the individual director. Instead they
represent a potential liability of the pension scheme. The non-executive directors do not receive pension benefits.
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BOARD REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(iii) Directors’ share options and long term incentive plans
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire ordinary
shares and notional ordinary shares in the company granted to or held by the directors under the Share Option
Schemes and the Long Term Incentive Plan respectively, nor of awards of ordinary shares in the company under
the Performance Share Plan.

Details of options for directors who served during the period are as follows:

31 March Granted Exercised 3 April Exercise Exercise
2008 2009 price period

Interests in Share Options

K Chapman 14,018 — 14,018 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2008
P B Maudsley 14,018 — 14,018 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2008

188,842 — — 188,842 360.75p May 2007 – May 2011
P E Jolly 225,688 — — 225,688 545.0p May 2009 – May 2013

Interests in notional shares under the long-term incentive plan

K Chapman 534,082 — — 534,082 133.5p July 2002 – July 2009
I J Bolton 262,172 — — 262,172 133.5p July 2002 – July 2009
P B Maudsley 26,736 — — 26,736 205.0p Dec 2002 – Dec 2009

11,859 — — 11,859 263.5p May 2003 – May 2010

The above interests of Mr K Chapman and Dr I J Bolton under the long-term incentive plan lapsed on 9 July 2009.

The performance criteria for all awards, other than that granted to Mr P E Jolly, under the share option schemes
and long-term incentive plan have been met.

Interests in shares under the performance share plan

31 March Granted Vested 3 April Award Vesting
2008 2009 date date

P B Maudsley 64,102 — — 64,102 4 July 2006 5 July 2009
83,916 — — 83,916 3 July 2007 3 July 2010

— 513,761 — 513,761 27 Nov 2008 27 Nov 2011
P E Jolly 64,102 — — 64,102 4 July 2006 5 July 2009

83,916 — — 83,916 3 July 2007 3 July 2010
— 513,761 — 513,761 27 Nov 2008 27 Nov 2011

C D Hinton 50,083 — — 50,083 29 Nov 2007 29 Nov 2010
— 366,972 — 366,972 27 Nov 2008 27 Nov 2011

K Chapman — 489,296 — 489,296 27 Nov 2008 27 Nov 2011
I J Bolton — 183,486 — 183,486 27 Nov 2008 27 Nov 2011

The awards granted on 4 July 2006 were subject to 50% benchmark earnings per share (EPS) growth targets
and 50% relative total shareholder return (TSR) performance targets measured against the constituents of the
FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts). Under the EPS element, EPS growth of RPI +12% was required for 30%
of this part of an award to vest, rising to full vesting for EPS growth of RPI +27%. Under the TSR element, median
performance was required for 30% of this part of an award to vest, rising to full vesting for upper quartile. The
awards granted in the year ended 31 March 2008 were as above but the range of EPS targets was lower at
RPI +10% to RPI +21%. The awards granted on 27 November 2008 were as set out on page 21 above.

The awards granted on 4 July 2006 have not had their performance conditions satisfied and will lapse in due course.

There have been no grants of share options or long term incentives nor under the performance share plan since
3 April 2009. The share option plan and the long term incentive plan are now both closed in relation to new grants.
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Details of share options exercised during the period are as follows:

Mid market Notional
Date of Number of Exercise price on date gain on
exercise shares price of exercise exercise

K Chapman 15 May 2008 14,018 214p 289.75p 10,618
P B Maudsley 15 May 2008 14,018 214p 289.75p 10,618

Other than the details above, no directors exercised any share options or long term incentives during the period
ended 3 April 2009, nor were any shares vested under the performance share plan.

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options or awards
under the long-term incentive plan during the period ended 3 April 2009.

No directors have exercised any share options or long term incentives since 3 April 2009, nor have any shares
vested under the performance share plan.

The non-executive directors do not participate in the share option schemes, the long-term incentive plan or the
performance share plan.

The market price of the ordinary shares at 3 April 2009 was 86.5p and the range during the period was 33.75p
up to 520.5p.

During the period, certain former directors provided services on a consultancy basis to the group. The total
payments made in respect of such services were £35,000.

Directors’ interests
The beneficial interests of the directors, together with non-beneficial interests, in the ordinary shares of the
company are shown below.

3 April 2009 31 March 2008
Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

K Chapman 5,250,108 — 4,888,590 —
I J Bolton 300,000 — 287,925 —
P E Jolly 83,577 — 42,061 —
P B Maudsley 203,264 — 109,246 —
C D Hinton — — — —
G P Craig 70,000 — 40,000 —
M L Hawker 12,000 — 2,000 —
D A Johnson 30,000 — 10,000 —
S S McKay — — — —

There have been no other changes in the above interests since 3 April 2009.

On behalf of the board
M L Hawker
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

24 July 2009
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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The success of the group is firmly linked to its actions in respect of its Corporate Social Responsibilities. As well as
remaining fully compliant with all relevant legislation, the group is determined to continually evaluate and enhance its
performance in this area.

Our People
The group recognises the critical importance of its employees to its success. Personnel matters are addressed
principally on a divisional basis, with the policies and procedures tailored to meet the needs of the division. The
relevant personnel departments address the training and development needs of individuals in conjunction with those
individuals through appraisals held at least annually from which a development plan is agreed. In certain areas a
departmental skills matrix is maintained and used to assist in identifying training needs. Job vacancies are
advertised internally allowing individuals to progress within the organisation. We are committed to promotion on
merit and filling job opportunities in-house wherever possible. Exit interviews are conducted where appropriate.

We have written family friendly (flexible working) policies and have arrangements in place to offer childcare vouchers
in place of salary (saving tax). In addition there are written policies on bullying & harassment, equal opportunity and
discrimination. The company also offers access to stress and occupational health counselling. Each division provides
employees with a handbook. All personnel documents are available on the divisional intranets.

With the exception of a small number of staff based in India and Hong Kong, the group is a UK based employer. Many of
our sites are located in multi-cultural areas and we work hard to create and run a fair, equal opportunities employment
culture that embraces this multi-culturalism. The needs of specific groups in the workforce are recognised and
addressed with, for example, prayer facilities and employee information in foreign languages where relevant.

Our Home Shopping business employs a high number of temporary workers in season. These workers are given a
highly detailed induction training, in part by members of the permanent staff who are given additional training to
carry out this responsibility. Previous temporary workers who have proved satisfactory are the first port of call
when recruiting for the new season.

Health and Safety
The group maintains a comprehensive structure to assess, monitor and mitigate health and safety risks in the
business, which are largely related to manual handling and computer operation. All health and safety policies and
procedures are available to the group’s employees via the divisional intranets. Total reported incidents have fallen
by 35% over the last 4 years, although the number of RIDDOR incidents has risen slightly from 20 to 21.

Our Products
The group sells a range of over 100,000 stock lines across a broad range of categories and end customers. Our
suppliers stretch from high profile multi national companies to individual factories. Product safety and quality are
at the forefront when considering items for our ranges; appropriate safety certification is obtained where relevant
backed up by independent testing by recognised third party product testing houses and in house quality control
checks. Our Hong Kong office has been sourcing product for group companies and third parties for over 26 years.
Careful selection of suppliers by our overseas offices, supported by regular quality and audit inspections, ensures
adherence to our high standards. We actively engage with our suppliers to address emerging best practice including
action to minimise the usage of materials identified in the REACH guidelines on chemical safety.

When sourcing product from the Far East and India, where the risk of poor labour practices is highest, our
suppliers are required to conform to our Ethical Trading Code of Practice. This policy document clearly lays out
our contractual standards in order to meet both United Nations and local laws on working conditions, employment,
pay rates, holidays, etc. Continuing adherence to this code is ensured through verification during visits by our
personnel for QA purposes, bi-annual updating of records which may involve audit visits, and reliance upon audit
reports carried out by International Organisations.

The Environment
As a predominantly mail order business, our impact on the environment is principally through energy consumption
and the use of paper and packaging. We have continued to be involved with the Carbon Disclosure Project
Secretariat in expressing our views and involvement in greenhouse gas emissions although it is recognised that,
as a non-manufacturing company, our emissions are relatively low. We aim to supply our customers with the
information to make environmentally friendly choices by identifying in our catalogues products made from renewable
or recycled materials, and the energy ratings of our white goods.

Following successful trials, our Healthcare business has introduced a more environmentally safe substitute
disinfectant for use in the recycling and refurbishing sections of its operations. Whilst retaining the benefits of our
existing chlorine based disinfectants it reduces the risk to the operators as well as being non-toxic, biodegradable and
non-cumulative in the eco-system therefore overcoming concerns regarding product disposal and accidental spillage.



Energy
Our major use of energy is in heating, lighting and powered conveying equipment, and in our vehicle fleet.

Consolidation of both office and warehouse operations has led to a reduction in Energy usage as a proportion of
sales. In particular our gas consumption as a proportion of sales has come down significantly over the last five
years. This is due to a number of initiatives:

� At our main warehouses we compartmentalised the buildings and installed automatically closing rapid rise doors
to keep in heat.

� Temperature controls are operated at each major warehouse.

� Thermal clothing (sweatshirts and fleeces) has been issued to warehouse staff as part of the Company dress code.

� Old boiler systems have been replaced by Energy efficient space heaters.

Electricity consumption as a percentage of sales has also fallen over the last five years. A comprehensive
assessment of Energy Saving opportunities has been undertaken by the Carbon Trust. The result was a number of
practical energy saving opportunities which are being implemented at Operating Company level including installation
of lighting controls and removal of surplus lighting, replacing existing Compressors with High Energy Efficiency
Models, and optimisation of the Compressed Air Systems for the conveyoring equipment. The proportion of our
electricity usage acquired from renewable sources is 62% higher than the UK average

The majority of our vehicle fleet now runs on Euro 4 compliant diesel engines and our policy is to specify diesel
engines for replacement vehicles. Our vehicle fleet’s CO2 emissions are calculated and measured monthly and
average emissions per km driven have fallen by 3% over the last two years.

We have invested in systems to enable an increasing proportion of our larger products to be sent directly from our
suppliers to our customers significantly reducing the transportation and handling involved.

In May 2009 we opened the new 55,000 sq foot Head Office for our Education division. This building was designed
with environmental impacts in mind. It makes extensive use of glass to its North elevation, maximising natural light
but minimising the need for air conditioning. A high efficiency Heating and Cooling system has been installed. Energy
saving lighting controls are used which are a mixture of Presence Detection Lighting and Daylight Switching. Each of
the sub contractors were required to demonstrate their Environmental credentials prior to appointment. As a
result of these initiatives the building has been awarded a "B" Energy Performance rating, which is higher than the
average for comparative new build properties.

Paper
Whilst the demand for our paper catalogues continues to be high, we have over the last five years reduced the
weight of the paper used by 6% and ensure that all paper is sourced from suppliers who have ISO 14001
(Environmental Management Standard) accreditation and are FSC (Forestry Stewardship Council) approved. In
addition we have continued to develop our internet presence, with the percentage of orders placed on the internet
growing each year.

Packaging
We are constantly seeking to be innovative in minimising the level of packaging commensurate with ensuring that
products arrive with our customers undamaged. Our Home Shopping division pioneered the “Bag in a Box” system
to minimise the need for filling material in larger packages, whilst an investment in our business systems allows us
to dynamically assess the contents of a parcel and eliminate the use of boxes completely for a proportion of our
smaller parcels, using instead bags made from recycled paper. As well as being environmentally sound this has also
resulted in a reduction in Packaging Spend as a percentage of Turnover.

Waste
All of our major Warehouses focus on Waste Management and Recycling, with clearly defined Recycling centres for
Paper, Wood, Cardboard, Plastics and Scrap Metal. Waste reduction and re-cycling initiatives have been rolled out
across the group with increasing success and purchased packaging has been reduced as measured against turnover.

We are developing reporting procedures at each site to disclose the amount of waste which goes to landfill
compared to waste which is recycled. In sites where this reporting has already been adopted we have seen
significant falls in the percentage of waste going to landfill.

Community Support
Both the company and its employees work to support local communities, predominantly in the areas where we have
group facilities. Our Home Shopping and Educational Supplies products are also much in demand for donating to less
privileged schools, good causes and establishments, both in the UK and abroad.
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To the members of Findel plc
We have audited the group financial statements of Findel plc for the period ended 3 April 2009 which comprise the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes 1 to 40. These group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Findel plc for the period ended
3 April 2009.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies
Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the group
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view, whether the
group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4
of the IAS Regulation and whether the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our
opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the group financial statements.
The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the Chairman’s
Statement and Finance Director’s Review that is cross referred from the Review of the Year and Future Prospects
section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding director’s remuneration and other transactions is not
disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited group financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if
we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the group financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of
the group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the group financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the group financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.

32 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2009

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (GROUP)



Opinion
In our opinion:

� the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the group’s affairs as at 3 April 2009 and of its loss for the period then ended;

� the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation;

� the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

� the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the group financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
24 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
period ended 3 April 2009

2009 2008
Benchmark Benchmark

results Other items* Total results Other items* Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations Notes (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Revenue 3,5 599,756 17,680 617,436 610,605 34,453 645,058
Cost of sales
Other cost of sales (290,319) (11,156) (301,475) (283,556) (17,164) (300,720)
Exceptional stock rationalisation 6 — (14,321) (14,321) — — —
Total cost of sales (290,319) (25,477) (315,796) (283,556) (17,164) (300,720)
Gross profit 309,437 (7,797) 301,640 327,049 17,289 344,338

Trading costs 4 (251,224) (15,305) (266,529) (243,612) (21,166) (264,778)
Amortisation of intangible assets (1,949) (1,775) (3,724) (1,007) (2,252) (3,259)
Exceptional operating costs (net) 6
– Impairment of intangible assets — (17,346) (17,346) — (3,000) (3,000)
– Additional debtors provision — (14,429) (14,429) — — —
– Impairment of property, plant and
equipment — (3,075) (3,075) — — —

– Other exceptional items — (16,443) (16,443) — (15,869) (15,869)
– Negative goodwill arising on
acquisition in the period — — — — 222 222

– Loss on disposal of businesses — — — — (561) (561)
Effect of changes in accounting policies
and practices
– Brochure costs (339) — (339) (1,338) — (1,338)
– IT development costs (3,662) (1,108) (4,770) (7,431) (33) (7,464)
Total operating costs (257,174) (69,481) (326,655) (253,388) (42,659) (296,047)
Share of result of associate 403 (4,743) (4,340) (1,350) — (1,350)
Operating (loss)/profit 5 52,666 (82,021) (29,355) 72,311 (25,370) 46,941
Finance income 8 12,471 — 12,471 9,735 — 9,735
Finance costs 9 (31,693) (3,361) (35,054) (31,479) (35) (31,514)
(Loss)/profit before tax 33,444 (85,382) (51,938) 50,567 (25,405) 25,162
Income tax expense 10 (8,207) 18,609 10,402 (14,465) 6,003 (8,462)
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable
to the equity holders of the parent 11 25,237 (66,773) (41,536) 36,102 (19,402) 16,700

(Loss)/earnings per share 14
Basic 30.04p (49.45)p 43.02p 19.90p
Diluted 30.04p (49.45)p 42.36p 19.60p

* “Other items” relate to the results from operations sold or terminated in the current or previous periods, stock
rationalisation costs, amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations, share-based payments,
exceptional operating costs (net) and derivative remeasurements, together with the associated tax effects, but
excludes interest receivable from its associate. “Other items” have been disclosed separately in order to give an
indication of the benchmark results of the ongoing businesses of the group.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE
period ended 3 April 2009

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Currency translation differences 1,783 (87)
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 1,783 (87)
(Loss)/profit for the period (41,536) 16,700
Total recognised income and expense for the period (39,753) 16,613

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (39,753) 16,613

Effects of changes in accounting policy and practice

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Brought forward at beginning of period (18,819) (11,670)
Expense for the period (2,462) (7,149)
Carried forward at end of period (21,281) (18,819)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 3 April 2009

2009 2008
£000 £000

Notes (Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 15 54,073 64,431
Other intangible assets 16 80,724 86,923
Property, plant and equipment 17 53,034 55,043
Investments in associates 19 622 4,962
Loans and receivables due from associates 39 33,654 34,430

222,107 245,789
Current assets
Inventories 20 75,168 108,690
Trade and other receivables 21 240,538 274,751
Current tax receivable 1,954 —
Derivative financial instruments 26 — 457
Cash at bank and in hand 22 9,924 12,767

327,584 396,665

Total assets 549,691 642,454

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 90,757 101,791
Current tax liabilities — 7,672
Obligations under finance leases 24 1,393 595
Bank overdrafts and loans 25 42,204 66,107
Derivative financial instruments 26 3,219 315
Provisions 27 — —

137,573 176,480
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 25 341,558 332,287
Obligations under finance leases 24 854 494
Deferred tax liabilities 28 6,752 10,324
Retirement benefit obligation 37 8,212 11,887

357,376 354,992

Total liabilities 494,949 531,472
NET ASSETS 54,742 110,982

EQUITY
Share capital 30 4,257 4,255
Capital redemption reserve 31 403 403
Share premium account 31 24,003 23,944
Merger reserve 31 29,518 29,518
Own shares 31 (976) (2,974)
Liability for share-based payments 31 1,342 1,342
Translation reserve 32 1,292 (491)
Retained earnings 33 (5,097) 54,985
TOTAL EQUITY 54,742 110,982

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 24 July 2009

P E Jolly
Directors

C D Hinton }
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
period ended 3 April 2009

2009 2008
£000 £000

Notes (Restated)

Operating activities
Operating (loss)/profit (29,355) 46,941
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,997 3,131
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 3,075 —
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,724 3,259
Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions in the period — (222)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 17,346 3,000
Loss on disposal of businesses — 561
Share-based payment expense — 973
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,440 (2,012)
Pension contributions less income statement charge (3,543) (2,865)
Share of result of associate 4,340 1,350
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 5,024 54,116
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 33,886 (11,723)
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 38,343 (33,226)
(Decrease)/increase in payables (11,261) 5,836
Cash generated from operations 65,992 15,003
Income taxes paid (2,797) (4,439)
Interest paid (24,344) (27,697)
Net cash from operating activities 38,851 (17,133)
Investing activities
Interest received 1,497 1,079
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 209 1,011
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (13,106) (8,746)
Movements on loan with associate 776 (34,430)
Acquisition of subsidiaries — (5,122)
Disposal of subsidiaries — 8,856
Net cash used in investing activities (10,624) (37,352)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (16,548) (17,027)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases (614) 102
Proceeds on issue of shares 60 381
Movements on bank loans (10,851) 53,612
Movement on securitisation loan (5,729) 8,076
Net cash from financing activities (33,682) 45,144
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,455) (9,341)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (10,255) (904)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 664 (10)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 22 (15,046) (10,255)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General Information and Accounting Policies
Findel plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The address of the
registered office is given on page 12. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in
the Directors’ Report, and in the Chairman’s Statement and Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 11.

These financial statements are presented in sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the accounting policies
set out below.

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and relevant interpretations,
which have not been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective (and some of which
were pending endorsement by the EU).

� IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

� IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”– revision effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2009

� IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled entity or Associate” – revision effective for accounting periods beginning or or after 1 July 2009

� IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” – effective for costs incurred from 1 January 2009

� IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged items” – revision applies
restrospectively for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

� IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payment” – revision effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

� IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” – revision effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

� IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

� IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” – effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 October 2008.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods are not
expected to have a material impact on the financial results of the group.

Restatements in respect of 2008

Brochure costs
Following endorsement by the European Union of ‘Improvements to IFRSs’, changes to IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”
require expenditure on catalogues to be written off as incurred. Historically, and in line with a number of similar
companies, the group has carried the costs of preparing catalogues until the catalogues have been distributed at
which point the benefits of sales associated with the costs of the catalogue are being obtained. Whilst not required
to be applied until the financial year ending March 2010, the directors have decided to adopt this early in the
current Annual Report.

As a result of this change in policy the amounts disclosed in the accounts have been changed, and the comparatives
restated, as follows:

2008
£000

Inventories (as previously reported) 109,724
Prior year adjustment (1,034)
Inventories (restated) 108,690

Trade and other receivables (as previously reported) 277,911
Prior year adjustment (3,160)
Trade and other receivables (restated) 274,751

As a result of this change in policy, the impact on the results for 2009 was to increase costs in the year by
£339,000 (2008: £1,338,000) and reduce inventories and trade and other receivables by £970,000 and
£3,563,000 respectively.

Software development costs disclosure
On transition to IFRS it was considered appropriate to classify the amounts relating to software development costs
within property, plant and equipment and this treatment continued to be applied thereafter. Having reflected on
current practice, and in conjunction with the changes in the capitalisation policy noted below, the directors have
decided that it would be more appropriate to disclose software development costs within intangible assets. The
amounts reclassified to software development costs are disclosed below. This reclassification has had no effect on
total fixed assets, net assets, or profit or loss.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

2008
£000

Software and IT development costs – net book value (as previously reported) —
Prior year adjustment 8,150
Software and IT development costs – net book value (restated) 8,150

Software development costs capitalisation
In preparing the Annual Report the directors have reviewed the accounting policy and the costs incurred in
developing and maintaining software for use by the group.

The group has significantly increased its investment in developing and maintaining software systems for managing
the group’s diverse inventory and customer base and associated internet trading capacity over the past 3 years.
The development of software is a continuous process as the business units continue to enhance the underlying
systems and operations, and capitalisation of these costs can continue to be supported against future cash flows
of the businesses involved. Under IAS 38 “Intangible assets” the cessation of capitalisation should occur when the
asset is in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The directors have been reviewing the historic, current, and ongoing level and nature of the amounts incurred in
software development. They have determined that the previous practice should be amended such that the cessation
of capitalisation of software development costs occurs when the main projects involving external contractors cease
and thus that the subsequent internal costs of maintaining and enhancing the existing systems should be expensed.

The directors consider that this is a more robust approach than that adopted in previous years, reflecting the
judgemental nature of deciding between whether upgrades to core software systems create a new asset, or
enhance or maintain an existing asset.

As a result of this review the amounts disclosed in the accounts have been changed, and the comparative restated,
as follows:

2008
£000

Property, plant and equipment – net book value (as previously reported) 83,248
Prior year adjustment (20,055)
Property, plant and equipment – net book value (restated) 63,193

As a result of this review, the impact on the results for 2009 was to increase the income statement charge for
IT development costs by £4,770,000 (2008: £7,464,000) and reduce property, plant and equipment by £24,825,000.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
adopted for use in the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. The financial
statements have been prepared on the going concern basis as set out in the Finance Director’s Review.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been applied consistently
in the current and prior period other than as set out above.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They cease to be
consolidated from the date that the group no longer has control.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.

The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared to the same reporting date as the parent company.

Associates
Associates are entities over which the group has significant influence but not control. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over these policies. The equity method is used to account for investments in associates and investments are initially
recognised at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Investments in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted by
post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value
of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate) are
recognised only to the extent that the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. Long term loans to associates are reviewed for impairment where relevant, in line with the
accounting policy for impairment of assets set out below.

Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged
in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

During the period covered by this report, the group was organised into three core divisions which were the primary
business segments:

� Home Shopping;

� Educational Supplies; and

� Healthcare.

The secondary reporting segments are the main geographic areas in which the group operates.

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services to external customers, net of value added tax,
rebates, discounts and returns. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer
upon delivery and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. A provision for estimated returns is made,
representing the profit on goods sold during the period which will be returned and refunded after the period end.
Revenue is reduced by the value of sales returns provided for during the period.

Interest income
Interest income on customer credit accounts is recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised in respect of non-interest related financial income, delivery charges and parcel insurance. In
addition, various services are provided under the group’s healthcare contracts. Income is recognised when the
relevant service has been provided to the customer.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentational currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the company’s and group’s functional and
presentational currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. At
each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Translation differences on monetary items are taken to the
income statement with the exception of differences on translations that are subject to effective cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss and are included in
either equity or the income statement as appropriate.

Group companies
The results and financial position of overseas group entities are translated into sterling as follows:

� Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

� Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period;

� All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings, are taken to equity. Tax charges and credits attributable to those exchange differences are taken
directly to equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate.

Share-based payments
The group operates a number of equity-settled, share based compensation plans.

The group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”. In accordance with IFRS 1, IFRS 2 has
been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested at 1 January 2005.

The group principally issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Fair value is usually measured by use of the Black Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

Other items
The restructuring of the group’s existing operations and the integration of acquisitions gives rise to significant
incremental non-recurring costs. The group views these costs as costs associated with investment in the future
performance of the business and not part of the group’s underlying trading performance. These costs have a
material impact on the absolute amount of and trend in the group operating profit and operating margins. Therefore
such non-recurring costs are shown as exceptional items, and separated within operating profit on the face of the
income statement.

In order to give an indication of the underlying earnings of the group, certain items are also presented within Other
items in the Consolidated Income Statement. These include amortisation of intangible assets arising on business
combinations, impairments, derivative remeasurements, share-based payment charges, and one-off stock
rationalisation and debtor provisions, together with the associated tax effects when applicable, but excludes
interest received from associates.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to Findel plc shareholders are recognised in the group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value:

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis as follows:

� Freehold properties are depreciated over 50 years;

� Leasehold premises with lease terms of 50 years or less are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease;

� Plant, vehicles and equipment are depreciated over 3 to 20 years according to the estimated life of the asset;

� Equipment on hire or lease is depreciated over the period of the lease;

� Land is not depreciated.

Software development costs
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on IT software development is recognised as an internally-generated intangible asset up to the point
where the main projects cease to involve external contractors, and only if all of the following conditions are met:

� as asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new processes);

� it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and

� the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of 3 to 7 years.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the consideration payable for an acquisition over the fair value of the
group’s share of identifiable net assets of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired at the date of
acquisition. Fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that existed at
the date of acquisition, reflecting their condition at that date. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the
accounting policies of acquired businesses into alignment with those of the group.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and
joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment.
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. An impairment charge is recognised for any amount
by which the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold,
allocated where necessary on a pro rata basis.

If the group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair
value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goodwill, if those
assets are separable and their fair value can be measured reliably. Other intangible assets acquired separately from
the acquisition of a business are capitalised at cost and principally relate to IT software development costs.

The cost of intangible assets with finite useful economic lives is amortised over that period. The carrying values of
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
values may not be recoverable.

Brand names
Legally protected or otherwise separable trade names acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at
fair value on acquisition. Brand names are assumed to have an indefinite life and are not amortised, but are subject
to annual impairment tests.

Customer relationships
Contractual and non-contractual customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised
at fair value on acquisition and amortised on a straight line basis over a period of between 2 and 20 years,
representing the directors’ best estimate of their useful economic lives.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss” (FVTPL) or “loans and
receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as
at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

� it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

� it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

� it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

� such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

� the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in note 38.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been impacted.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

� significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

� default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

� it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables includes the group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire;
or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at ‘FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities comprising derivative financial instruments are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is
either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

� it has been incurred principally for the purpose of disposal in the near future; or

� it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

� it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

� such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

� the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 38.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire.

Derivative financial instruments
The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency
options. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other
derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated on either standard cost or weighted average cost, depending on the circumstances of the
subsidiary, and where applicable includes those costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Taxation
The tax currently payable or receivable is based on taxable profit or loss for the period. Taxable profit differs from
net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, if the deferred taxation arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred taxation is
calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred taxation asset is realised or the
deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Leases

Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the anticipated useful life of the asset and its lease
term.

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction of
the charge over the lease term.

Retirement benefit costs
The group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that
defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the group pays fixed contributions into an independently administered fund. The group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The cost of providing these benefits, recognised in the
income statement, comprises the amount of contributions payable to the schemes in respect of the year.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the present value of the group’s defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of the plan assets are amortised over the expected average remaining lives of the
participating employees.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent the benefits are already vested and otherwise are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

Current and past service costs and settlement gains are recognised within administrative expenses in the income
statement. Interest is included within finance costs.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, management has made the
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Retirement benefits (note 37) – within the UK, the group operates a number of approved defined benefit schemes.
The pension costs relating to the retirement plans are accounted for under IAS 19 “Employee benefits” with the
cost of providing retirement benefits determined using the projected unit credit method, and actuarial valuations
being carried out at each balance sheet date. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, including discount
rates, expected returns on plan assets, compensation increases and mortality rates. These actuarial assumptions
are reviewed annually and modified as appropriate in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries.

Share-based payments (note 29) – the group offers share and share option plans to certain employees as part of
their compensation and benefits package, designed to improve alignment of the interests of employees with those
of shareholders. The costs relating to these share-based payments are accounted for under IFRS 2 “Share-based
payments”, those costs being calculated principally using the Black-Scholes model as a valuation basis. Inherent
in these calculations are key assumptions regarding expected volatility, an appropriate risk free rate and expected
dividend yield. These assumptions are reviewed annually and modified as appropriate.

Taxation (note 10) – accruals for tax contingencies require the exercise of judgement in relation to potential tax
exposures. Amounts accrued are based on interpretation of tax law and the likelihood of settlement. Tax benefits
are not recognised unless the tax positions are probable of being sustained. Once considered to be probable, each
material tax benefit is reviewed to assess whether a provision should be taken against full recognition of the benefit
on the basis of the potential settlement. All such provisions are due within one year and therefore included within
current tax. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the asset can be utilised requiring judgements to be made in respect of the forecast of future taxable
income.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Goodwill and intangible assets (notes 15 and 16) – the group has significant investments in both goodwill and
intangible assets as a result of acquisitions of businesses and purchases of such assets. Goodwill and certain
intangible assets are held at cost and tested annually for impairment. Tests for impairment are based on discounted
cash flow projections, which require an estimate of both future operating cash flows and an appropriate discount
rate. Such estimates are inherently subjective. Impairments have arisen in 2008 and 2009.

Derivative financial instruments (note 26) – derivative financial instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at
their fair value in accordance with IAS 39 “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income statement. These fair values are based upon readily obtainable
market price quotations. However, these are only an estimate of how future prices will move and are inherently
subjective.

Trade receivables (note 21) – trade receivables are recognised on the balance sheet at original invoice amount less
provision for impairment. Provisions for impairment are established when there is objective evidence that the group
will not be able to collect all amounts due and are based on anticipated collection rates at each year end. These
collection rates are estimated based on historical and current trends and are inherently subjective.

Investment in and receivables from associate company – the group has loans and receivables of £33.7m (note 39)
and trade receivables of £6.7m from an associate along with a net investment in the associate of £0.6m (note 19).
Potential impairment of these balances is considered, based upon discounted cash flow projections. Such an
assessment requires an estimate of future cash flows and the discount factor which are inherently subjective.
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3 Revenue
An analysis of the group’s revenue is as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Sale of goods 514,208 538,994
Rendering of services 57,262 64,800
Interest 45,966 41,264

617,436 645,058
Other operating income — 2,012
Finance income 12,471 9,735

629,907 656,805

4 Trading costs
An analysis of the group’s trading costs before the effect of changes in accounting policies and practices is
as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Selling and distribution costs 176,765 186,251
Administrative expenses 89,764 80,539
Other operating income — (2,012)

266,529 264,778

Reflecting the changes in accounting policies and practices within trading costs would lead to additional selling and
distribution costs of £339,000 (2008: £1,338,000) and additional administrative expenses of £4,770,000
(2008: £7,464,000).

5 Business and Geographical Segments
Business Segments
For management purposes, the group is currently organised into three operating divisions – Home Shopping,
Educational Supplies and Healthcare.

These divisions are the basis on which the group reports its primary segment information.

Segment information about these businesses is presented below.

2009
Revenue Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Benchmark 366,720 168,252 64,784 — 599,756
Terminated operations 17,680 — — — 17,680
External sales 384,400 168,252 64,784 — 617,436
Inter-segment sales 32,670 — 141 (32,811) —
Total revenue 417,070 168,252 64,925 (32,811) 617,436

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued
Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

2009 2009 2009 2009 2009
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Benchmark operating profit (before
associate result) 32,216 15,182 4,865 — 52,263
Terminated operations (9,889) — — — (9,889)
Total 22,327 15,182 4,865 — 42,374

Share of result of associate
Home Shopping – benchmark 403

– other (4,743)

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations
Home Shopping (815)
Educational Supplies (930)
Healthcare (30)

Exceptional cost of sales
Stock rationalisation
Home Shopping (3,002)
Educational supplies (11,319)

Exceptional operating costs
Impairment of intangible assets
Home Shopping (17,346)

Additional debtors provision
Home Shopping (14,429)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Home Shopping (3,075)

Other exceptional items
Home Shopping (9,506)
Educational Supplies (3,732)
Healthcare (511)
Unallocated corporate costs (2,694)

Operating profit
Home Shopping (30,186)
Educational Supplies (799)
Healthcare 4,324
Unallocated corporate costs (2,694)

(29,355)
Finance income 12,471
Finance costs (35,054)
Profit before tax (51,938)
Tax 10,402
Profit after tax (41,536)
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5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued
Other information Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

2009 2009 2009 2009 2009
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital additions 8,992 4,627 1,428 — 15,047
Depreciation and amortisation 7,285 3,389 1,047 — 11,721
Impairment losses 20,421 — — — 20,421

Balance Sheet

Assets
Segment assets 294,227 157,288 23,741 — 475,256
Investments in associates 622
Unallocated corporate assets 73,813
Consolidated total assets 549,691
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (140,431) (36,953) (7,798) — (185,182)
Unallocated corporate liabilities (309,767)
Consolidated total liabilities (494,949)

Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities principally comprise cash and bank borrowings, loans and receivables due
from associates, and current and deferred tax provisions.

2008
Revenue Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Benchmark 380,049 174,730 55,826 — 610,605
Terminated operations 29,750 4,703 — — 34,453
External sales 409,799 179,433 55,826 — 645,058
Inter-segment sales 33,243 100 — (33,343) —
Total revenue 443,042 179,533 55,826 (33,343) 645,058

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued
Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Benchmark operating profit (before
associate result) 48,944 22,011 2,706 — 73,661
Terminated operations (1,515) (1,422) — — (2,937)
Total 47,429 20,589 2,706 — 70,724

Share of result of associate
Home Shopping – benchmark (1,350)

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations
Home Shopping (1,293)
Educational Supplies (930)
Healthcare (29)

Exceptional operating costs
Impairment of goodwill
Healthcare (3,000)

Other exceptional items
Home Shopping (9,961)
Educational Supplies (5,333)
Healthcare (364)
Unallocated corporate costs (211)

Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions in the year
Educational Supplies 222

Loss on disposal of businesses
Home Shopping 2,481
Educational Supplies (3,042)

Share-based payment expense (unallocated) (973)

Operating profit
Home Shopping 37,306
Educational Supplies 11,506
Healthcare (687)
Unallocated corporate costs (1,184)

46,941
Finance income 9,735
Finance costs (31,514)
Profit before tax 25,162
Tax (8,462)
Profit after tax 16,700
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5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued
Other information Home Shopping Education Healthcare Eliminations Total

2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Capital additions 3,591 5,915 2,058 — 11,564
Depreciation and amortisation 2,980 2,654 756 — 6,390
Impairment losses — — 3,000 — 3,000

Balance Sheet

Assets
Segment assets 356,410 182,697 26,804 — 565,911
Investments in associates 4,962
Unallocated corporate assets 71,581
Consolidated total assets 642,454
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (151,137) (46,864) (6,884) — (204,885)
Unallocated corporate liabilities (326,587)
Consolidated total liabilities (531,472)

Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities principally comprise cash and bank borrowings, loans and receivables due
from associates, and current and deferred tax provisions.

Geographical segments
The group’s operations are located in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the
goods/services.

2009 2008
£000 £000

United Kingdom 573,060 608,091
Europe 16,192 14,379
Asia 5,425 12,666
Other 22,759 9,922

617,436 645,058

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segmental assets, and additions to property, plant and
equipment (PPE) and intangible assets, analysed by geographical area in which the assets are located.

Additions to PPE and
Segment assets intangibles

2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000

(Restated) (Restated)

United Kingdom 531,061 627,262 15,047 11,530
Hong Kong 18,630 15,192 — 34

549,691 642,454 15,047 11,564
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 Exceptional items
The following is an analysis of the exceptional items arising within the group during the period, all of which have been
included in Other items in the Consolidated Income Statement.

2009 2008
£000 £000

Exceptional cost of sales
Stock rationalisation 14,321 —

Exceptional operating costs
Impairment of intangible assets 17,346 3,000
Additional debtors provision 14,429 —
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 3,075 —
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition in the period — (222)
Loss on disposal of businesses — 561
Restructuring costs 9,739 11,758
Warehouse reorganisation costs 1,881 3,402
Costs in relation to business closures 4,823 —
Costs in relation to businesses disposed of in prior year — 709

65,614 19,208

The costs of stock rationalisation, impairment of intangible assets, additional debtors provision, impairment of
property, plant and equipment, negative goodwill arising on acquisition in the period and loss on disposal of
businesses are split by business segment in note 5.

Restructuring costs relate to the Home Shopping business segment £4,683,000 (2008: £7,946,000), the
Educational Supplies business segment £1,851,000 (2008: £3,237,000) and the Healthcare business segment
£511,000 (2008: £364,000), with the remainder £2,694,000 (2008: £211,000) unable to be allocated to a
specific business segment. Warehouse reorganisation costs relate to the Home Shopping business segment £nil
(2008: £1,306,000) and the Educational Supplies business segment £1,881,000 (2008: £2,096,000). Costs in
relation to both business closures and businesses disposed of in the prior year relate to the Home Shopping
business segment.

7 Terminated businesses
In the prior year the group incurred gains and losses on the disposal of the following businesses, each being the
proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of the net assets of the relevant business and any attributable
goodwill. The gain on the sale of James Galt & Co Limited related to the Home Shopping business segment. All other
losses in the prior year related to the Educational Supplies business segment.

(Gain)/loss on disposal
2009 2008
£000 £000

James Galt & Co — (2,481)
Percussion Plus — 1,355
Weston — 419
Didax — 1,036
Protus — 232

— 561

The results of these operations, together with the terminated businesses in 2009, The Cotswold Company and
Letterbox, from the Home Shopping business segment, have been separately disclosed within the “other items”
column on the face of the income statement.

Loss before tax and
Turnover exceptional items

2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000

Terminated businesses 17,680 34,453 (9,889) (2,967)
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8 Finance income
2009 2008
£000 £000

Interest on loans to, and other guarantees for, associates 4,316 2,215
Interest on bank deposits 2,177 1,623
Expected return on pension assets (note 37) 5,978 5,897

12,471 9,735

9 Finance costs
2009 2008
£000 £000

On bank loans and overdrafts 25,638 26,056
On finance leases 209 108
Total borrowing costs 25,847 26,164
Amounts arising on derivatives not in a designated
hedge accounting relationship 3,361 5
Interest on pension obligations (note 37) 5,846 5,345

35,054 31,514

10 Tax expense
2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Current tax – current period (UK tax) (6,070) 8,345
– current period (overseas tax) 461 430
– adjustments in respect of prior periods (UK tax) (1,311) 1,270
– adjustments in respect of prior periods (overseas tax) 90 (10)

(6,830) 10,035

Deferred tax – current period (3,476) (1,626)
– adjustments in respect of prior periods (96) 53

(3,572) (1,573)
(10,402) 8,462

The (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit per the income statement as follows:

(Loss)/profit before taxation (51,938) 25,162
Tax at the UK Corporation tax rate of 28% (2008: 30%) (14,543) 7,549

Effects of:
Tax effect of result of associate 1,215 405
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,767 1,562
Movements on deferred tax assets 2,154 (1,349)
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings (38) (280)
Impact of loss carry back (405) —
Adjustments relating to changes in UK tax legislation 59 —
Reversal of deferred tax asset relating to share options 706 —
Change in the rate of UK Corporation tax – reduction in the net deferred tax liability — (738)

(9,085) 7,149

Adjustments in respect of prior periods – current tax (1,221) 1,260
Adjustments in respect of prior periods – deferred tax (96) 53

(10,402) 8,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 (Loss)/profit for the period
2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Stated after charging/(crediting):
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 297,274 313,443
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (414) 247
Amounts arising on derivatives trading not in a designated hedge accounting relationship 3,361 5
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned 7,237 2,648
– held under finance leases and hire purchase agreements 760 483
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,440 (2,012)
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,724 3,259
Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions in the period — (222)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for inventories (note 20) 12,615 (1,190)
Staff costs (note 12) 70,261 73,077
Auditors’ remuneration (see below) 1,164 1,034

2009 2008
£000 £000

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the company’s annual accounts 111 79

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the group:
– The audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 320 322
Total audit fees 431 401
Other services pursuant to legislation
– Corporate tax services 215 192
– VAT services 116 184
– Internal control review 74 59
– Corporate finance services 305 175
– Other services 15 15
Total non-audit fees 725 625
Fees payable to the company's auditors and their associates in respect of associated
pension schemes

Audit 8 8
1,164 1,034

Fees payable to Deloitte LLP and their associates for non-audit services to the company are not required to be
disclosed because the consolidated financial statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

A description of the work of the audit committee is set out in the Corporate Governance report on pages 19 and 20
and includes an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are
provided by the auditors.

12 Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

2009 2008
No. No.

Administration 1,631 1,679
Production 178 147
Selling/distribution 1,588 1,777

3,397 3,603

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2009 2008
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 60,997 63,596
Social security costs 4,913 5,697
Other pension costs 4,351 3,784

70,261 73,077
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13 Dividends
2009 2008
£000 £000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 17.50p per share
(2007: 15.60p per share) 14,897 13,259
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (197) (178)

14,700 13,081
Interim dividend for the period ended 3 April 2009 of 2.20p per share
(2008: 4.70p per share) 1,873 3,999
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (25) (53)

1,848 3,946
16,548 17,027

Proposed final dividend for the period ended 3 April 2009 of nil pence per share
(2008: 17.50p per share) — 14,892
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust — (197)

— 14,695

14 Earnings per share
2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the purpose of basic
and diluted earnings per share (41,536) 16,700
Losses from terminated businesses (net of tax) 7,120 2,788
Exceptional stock rationalisation (net of tax) 10,311 —
Share-based payment expense and derivative remeasurements (net of tax) 3,361 978
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations (net of tax) 1,278 1,577
Impairment of intangible assets (net of tax) 15,039 3,000
Additional debtor provision (net of tax) 10,389 —
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (net of tax) 2,214 —
Exceptional items (net of tax) 12,978 11,641
Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions in the period — (222)
Loss on disposal of businesses (net of tax) — (360)
Share of result of associate (non-benchmark) 4,744 —
Prior period adjustments in respect of tax on non-benchmark items (661) —
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the purpose of
benchmark earnings per share 25,237 36,102

2009 2008
No. No.

Weighted average number of shares in issue 83,998,501 83,912,540
Dilutive share options — 1,305,035
Adjusted weighted average number of shares 83,998,501 85,217,575

(Loss)/earnings per share – basic (49.45)p 19.90p

Earnings per share – benchmark basic 30.04p 43.02p

(Loss)/earnings per share – diluted (49.45)p 19.60p

Earnings per share – benchmark diluted 30.04p 42.36p

Dilutive share options represent the calculated dilutive effect of share options outstanding at the balance sheet
date in accordance with the reporting requirements of IAS 33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Earnings per share – continued
This is split between the various share option schemes (described in note 29):

2009 2008
£000 £000

Old share option schemes — 66,600
Performance share plan — 629,914
Long-term incentive plan — 608,521

— 1,305,035

Benchmark earnings per share excludes the impact of the other items described on page 34.

15 Goodwill
£000

Cost

At 1 April 2007 65,879
Additions 1,552
At 1 April 2008 (as previously reported) 67,431
Hindsight adjustments to provisionally determined goodwill
arising on acquisitions in the prior year 320
At 1 April 2008 67,751
Additions —
At 3 April 2009 67,751

Impairment

At 1 April 2007 —
Provision for year 3,000
At 1 April 2008 3,000
Provision for period 10,678
At 3 April 2009 13,678
Carrying amount
Net book value at 3 April 2009 54,073

Net book value at 31 March 2008 64,431

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. After recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Education Division
Findel Education (several CGUs) 33,507 33,507
GLS (single CGU) 11,164 11,164
Healthcare Division
Nottingham Rehab (single CGU) 2,308 2,278
Home Shopping Division
Home Shopping (several CGUs) 7,094 17,482

54,073 64,431

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the
value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and management’s detailed budgets
including expected changes to revenues and direct costs during the period. The key assumptions are based on past
experience adjusted for expected changes in future conditions.

The group prepares cash flow forecasts for the next three to five years derived from the most recent budget
information. Cash flows are extrapolated thereafter for 20 years based on an estimated growth rate of 3%. This
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets in the context of a 20 year
forecast. The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 12.5%.
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15 Goodwill – continued
The impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (brand names) of £10.7m and £6.7m respectively recorded in the
period relates to the Home Shopping CGU and arose due to the decision to close Letterbox and Cotswold.

The impairment of goodwill of £3m recorded in the prior year related to the Nottingham Rehab CGU and arose due
to the decision not to renew certain historic contracts.

The recoverable amount for each CGU exceeded its carrying value at the impairment test date. In relation to
Confetti (which has total intangible assets of £9.2m), the value in use calculations are equivalent to its carrying
amount. Accordingly reasonable possible changes in the key assumptions listed above could give rise to an
impairment.

16 Other intangible assets
Software and IT Customer

development costs Brand names relationships Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2007 (as previously reported) — 61,231 21,540 82,771
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) 4,666 — — 4,666
At 1 April 2007 (restated) 4,666 61,231 21,540 87,437
Additions 5,260 2,220 598 8,078
At 1 April 2008 9,926 63,451 22,138 95,515
Additions 4,193 — — 4,193
At 3 April 2009 14,119 63,451 22,138 99,708
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2007 (as previously reported) — — 4,564 4,564
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) 769 — — 769
At 1 April 2007 (restated) 769 — 4,564 5,333
Provision for year 1,007 — 2,252 3,259
At 1 April 2008 1,776 — 6,816 8,592
Provision for period 1,949 6,668 1,775 10,392
At 3 April 2009 3,725 6,668 8,591 18,984
Carrying amount
Net book value at 3 April 2009 10,394 56,783 13,547 80,724
Net book value at 31 March 2008 (as previously reported) — 63,451 15,322 78,773
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) 8,150 — — 8,150
Net book value at 31 March 2008 (restated) 8,150 63,451 15,322 86,923

Brand names, which arise from the acquisition of businesses, are deemed to have an indefinite life and are subject
to annual impairment tests, on the basis that they are expected to be maintained indefinitely and are expected to
continue to drive value for the group.

The amortisation period for customer relationships, which arise from the acquisition of businesses, is between two
and twenty years.

Brand names acquired in a business combination are allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs)
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of brand names has been
allocated as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Education Division
Findel Education (several CGUs) 12,941 12,941
GLS (single CGU) 7,161 7,161
Healthcare Division
Nottingham Rehab (single CGU) 66 66
Home Shopping Division
Home Shopping (several CGUs) 13,770 20,438
Kleeneze (single CGU) 22,845 22,845

56,783 63,451

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the brand names might be
impaired.

These tests are conducted in a manner similar to those applied to goodwill as described in note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings Fixtures and

Freehold Leasehold equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2007 (as previously reported) 24,740 2,461 87,672 114,873
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) — — (41,972) (41,972)
At 1 April 2007 (restated) 24,740 2,461 45,700 72,901
Acquisition of subsidiaries 6 — 2,137 2,143
Disposal of subsidiaries — — (957) (957)
Additions (restated) 430 331 2,725 3,486
Disposals (20) — (8,001) (8,021)
Exchange differences — — (2) (2)
At 1 April 2008 25,156 2,792 41,602 69,550
Additions 1,448 13 9,393 10,854
Disposals (5) — (5,254) (5,259)
Exchange differences — — 66 66
At 3 April 2009 26,599 2,805 45,807 75,211

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2007 (as previously reported) 5,764 492 38,166 44,422
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) — — (25,484) (25,484)
At 1 April 2007 (restated) 5,764 492 12,682 18,938
Disposal of subsidiaries — — (389) (389)
Provision for year (restated) 542 206 2,383 3,131
Disposals — — (7,174) (7,174)
Exchange differences — — 1 1
At 1 April 2008 6,306 698 7,503 14,507
Provision for period 394 48 7,555 7,997
Disposals (5) — (3,355) (3,360)
Impairment — — 3,075 3,075
Exchange differences — — (42) (42)
At 3 April 2009 6,695 746 14,736 22,177

Carrying amount
Net book value at 3 April 2009 19,904 2,059 31,071 53,034

Net book value at 31 March 2008 (as previously reported) 18,850 2,094 62,304 83,248

Prior year adjustment (see note 1) — — (28,205) (28,205)
Net book value at 31 March 2008 (restated) 18,850 2,094 34,099 55,043

The following rates are used for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Buildings 2%
Fixtures and equipment 5%-33%
Leased assets Term of lease

The net book value of plant, equipment and motor vehicles held under finance leases at 3 April 2009 was £4.6m
(2008: £2.1m).

58 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2009



18 Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiary undertakings at 3 April 2009 were as follows:

Registered in England and Wales
Express Gifts Limited Home Shopping

Kleeneze Limited Home Shopping

Kitbag Limited Home Shopping

Findel Direct Limited Home Shopping

Findel Education Limited Educational Supplies

Nottingham Rehab Limited Healthcare

Registered and incorporated overseas
Fine Art Developments (Far East) Limited Procurement Services

All subsidiary undertakings are wholly owned directly by Findel plc except where indicated and operate mainly in the
country in which they are registered.

19 Investments in associates
2009 2008
£000 £000

Cost of equity investment in associates 5,358 5,358
Value of non-equity investments in associates 5,764 5,764
Share of post acquisition loss, net of dividend received (10,500) (6,160)

622 4,962

Details of the group’s associates at 3 April 2009 are as follows:

Name of associate Proportion of voting power held Principal activity
Webb Group Limited (Webb Group) 30% Provision of charity services and

card production

Webb Group is registered in England and Wales.

The group also holds £5.9m of non-voting preference shares in Webb Group.

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Total assets 50,497 32,254
Total liabilities (86,858) (52,787)

Revenue 99,109 75,502
Loss for the period (14,467) (4,500)
Group’s share of associates’ loss for the period (4,340) (1,350)

Details of the group’s transactions with the Webb Group are set out in note 39.

The basis of the review for impairment of the investment and the loans receivable from the associate of £33.4m
were similar to those adopted for goodwill as described in note 15 above, with no impairment identified.

The remaining 70% of the issued share capital of Webb was acquired for £3 on 23 July 2009 as described in
note 40.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 Inventories
2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Raw materials 31 40
Finished goods 75,137 108,650

75,168 108,690

In 2009 write-down of inventories totalled £19,669,000 (2008: £5,791,000), offset by reversals of previous
write-downs of £7,054,000 (2008: £6,981,000) leading to a net increase in the provision of £12,615,000
(2008: decrease of £1,190,000). The reversals were caused by the subsequent sale of the impaired stock held.

As described on page 7 above, a stock rationalisation charge of £14,321,000 has been recorded in the period
(2008: £nil).

21 Trade and other receivables
2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Amount receivable following the sale of goods 317,088 333,331
Allowance for doubtful debts (116,853) (90,358)

200,235 242,973
Other debtors 10,264 7,682
Prepayments 30,039 24,096

240,538 274,751

Certain of the group’s trade receivables are funded through a securitisation facility arranged by HSBC Investment
Bank plc and funded through a vehicle owned by GRE Trust Company (Ireland) Limited. The facility is secured against
those receivables and is without recourse to any of the group’s other assets. The finance provider will seek
repayment of the finance, as to both principal and interest, only to the extent that collections from the receivables
financed allows and the benefit of additional collections remains with the group. At the period end, receivables of
£128,955,000 (2008: £137,024,000) were funded through the securitisation facility, and the facilities utilised
were £91,558,000 (2008: £97,287,000).

Included in other debtors are amounts of £4m, with £2m receivable in April 2010 and April 2011 respectively, being
deferred consideration arising from the sale of premises at Hyde.

Home Shopping
The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 148 days. Interest is charged at 2.6 % per month on the
outstanding balance. Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of
goods, determined by reference to past default experience.

Before accepting any new customer, the group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
continually reviewed. There are no customers who represent more than 1% of the total balance of group trade
receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £51,045,000
(2008: £70,690,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 81 days (2008: 113 days).

As described on page 6 above, an additional debtor provision of £14,429,000 has been recorded in the period
(2008: £nil).

Educational Supplies
The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 64 days. Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience.

Given the nature of the customer base within the Educational Supplies business segment, it is not considered
necessary to utilise formal credit scoring. However, credit references are sought for all new customers prior to
extending credit. There are no customers who represent more than 1% of the total balance of group trade
receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £9,102,000
(2008: £9,287,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 80 days (2008: 61 days).
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21 Trade and other receivables – continued

Healthcare
The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 39 days. Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience.

Given the nature of the customer base within the Healthcare business segment, it is not considered necessary to
utilise formal credit scoring. There are no customers who represent more than 1% of the total balance of group
trade receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £1,752,000
(2008: £2,344,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 108 days (2008: 113 days).

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables – aged from due date:

Educational
Home Shopping Supplies Healthcare 2009

£000 £000 £000 £000

0 – 60 days 25,724 4,264 603 30,591
60 – 120 days 7,373 2,121 16 9,510
120+ days 17,948 2,717 1,133 21,798
Total 51,045 9,102 1,752 61,899

Educational
Home Shopping Supplies Healthcare 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000

0 – 60 days 34,523 6,441 625 41,589
60 – 120 days 15,496 845 192 16,533
120+ days 20,671 2,001 1,527 24,199
Total 70,690 9,287 2,344 82,321

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

Educational
Home Shopping Supplies Healthcare 2009

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at the beginning of the period 89,320 798 240 90,358
Impairment losses recognised 49,789 131 59 49,979
Amounts written off as uncollectible (26,746) (225) (223) (27,194)
Amounts recovered during the period 3,710 — — 3,710
Balance at the end of the period 116,073 704 76 116,853

Educational
Home Shopping Supplies Healthcare 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at the beginning of the period 77,284 1,271 516 79,071
Impairment losses recognised 30,570 7 199 30,776
Amounts written off as uncollectible (21,417) (480) (475) (22,372)
Amounts recovered during the period 2,883 — — 2,883
Balance at the end of the period 89,320 798 240 90,358
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 Trade and other receivables – continued
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with a balance of £246,000
(2008: £368,000) which have been placed under liquidation. The impairment recognised represents the difference
between the carrying amount of these trade receivable and the present value of the expected liquidation proceeds.
The group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The group has no trade receivables subject to renegotiation.

Details of impaired trade receivables subject to partial provision:

Educational
Home Shopping Supplies Healthcare Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

As at 3 April 2009 2,123 — 77 2,200

As at 31 March 2008 1,309 15 240 1,564

The directors consider that the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and that their carrying amount approximates their fair value. In excess of 90% of the above
amounts are greater than 120 days overdue in the current and prior year.

22 Cash at bank and in hand
2009 2008
£000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 9,924 12,767
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of
the cash flow statement:
Cash at bank and in hand (as above) 9,924 12,767
Bank overdrafts (24,970) (23,022)

(15,046) (10,255)

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and bank overdrafts held by the group, and short-term bank deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

23 Trade and other payables
2009 2008
£000 £000

Trade creditors and accruals 90,757 101,791

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 96 days (2008: 105 days). No interest is charged on trade
payables. The group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the
credit timeframe.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.
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24 Obligations under finance leases
Present value of

Minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments

2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year 1,555 664 1,393 595
In the second to fifth years 1,012 589 849 494
In more than five years 7 — 5 —

2,574 1,253 2,247 1,089
Less future finance charges (327) (164) — —
Present value of lease obligations 2,247 1,089 2,247 1,089
Less amounts due for settlement within 12 months (1,393) (595)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 854 494

It is the group’s policy to lease certain of its fixtures and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is
three years.

For the period ended 3 April 2009, the average borrowing rate was 7.50% (2008: 7.50%).

Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. The fair
value approximates their carrying value. All lease obligations are denominated in sterling.

The group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

25 Borrowings
2009 2008
£000 £000

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans 91,558 97,287
Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts 24,970 23,022
Bank loans 267,234 278,085

292,204 301,107

Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement within 12 months 42,204 66,107
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 341,558 332,287

Sterling Euro HK dollars Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Analysis of borrowings by currency
2009
Bank overdrafts 19,521 89 5,360 24,970
Bank loans 358,792 — — 358,792

378,313 89 5,360 383,762
2008
Bank overdrafts 22,353 498 171 23,022
Bank loans 375,372 — — 375,372

397,725 498 171 398,394

2009 2008

The average interest rates paid were as follows:
Bank overdrafts 5.32% 6.56%
Bank loans 4.93% 6.72%

All borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group
manages this risk by undertaking interest rate hedging as described in note 26.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 Borrowings – continued
The directors consider that the carrying value of bank loans and overdrafts approximates their fair value.

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand, unsecured and predominantly carry interest at 1% over the UK base
rate. US dollar and Hong Kong dollar bank overdrafts bear interest at rates based on the US prime rate. The
average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts approximated to 5.32% (2008: 6.56%) in the period.

The group has four principal bank loans:

(i) A secured, committed revolving credit facility of £250m provided pursuant to an agreement dated 3 September
2007 (as amended on 24 July 2009) which expires on 3 September 2012. Amounts drawn under the facility
carry interest at a premium over LIBOR (which is payable in cash) plus payment-in-kind interest at a fixed rate
which is capitalised and paid at maturity of the facility. If the Capital Raising (referred to in the Chairman’s
Statement) is successful, the terms of the facility will be amended to provide for amounts drawn under the
facility to carry interest at a fixed rate over LIBOR and, following the financial period ending 31 March 2010,
amounts drawn under the facility will carry interest at a variable rate over LIBOR determined by reference to the
group’s ratio of net borrowings to earnings. If the agreement is amended as a result of the Capital Raising being
successful, all interest will be payable in cash.

(ii) A secured, committed revolving credit facility of £77.3m provided pursuant to an agreement dated 24 July 2009
which expires on 23 March 2011 (if the Capital Raising is successful) and 31 December 2010 if it is not (subject
to certain conditions being met which if not met will result in the facility expiring on 31 May 2010). Amounts
drawn under the facility carry interest at a premium over LIBOR (which is payable in cash). If the Capital Raising
is successful, the terms of the facility will be amended and the facility provided in two tranches with each
tranche carrying interest at a different premium over LIBOR (which is payable in cash).

(iii) A secured, committed revolving credit facility of £37.7m provided pursuant to an agreement dated 24 July 2009
which expires on the completion of the Capital Raising (if the Capital Raising is successful) and 31 December 2010
if it is not (subject to certain conditions being met which if not met will result in the facility expiring on 31 March
2010). Amounts drawn under the facility carry interest at a premium over LIBOR (which is payable in cash).

(iv) A securitisation facility of up to £105m, dated 23 March 2006 which expires on 23 March 2011, the amount of
the available facility being dependent upon the level of certain debtor balances within Express Gifts Limited.
Amounts drawn under the facility carry interest at rates variable with the discount rate for Commercial Paper.

2009 2008
£000 £000

Borrowing facilities
The group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities as follows:
Expiring in one year or less 62,720 48,000
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years* 13,442 —
Expiring in more than two years* — 22,713

76,162 70,713

*Securitisation facility
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26 Derivative financial instruments
2009 2008

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£000 £000 £000 £000

Forward foreign exchange contracts — (30) 457 —
Interest rate derivatives — (3,189) — (315)

— (3,219) 457 (315)

Analysed as:
Current — (3,219) 457 (315)
Non-current — — — —

— (3,219) 457 (315)

Treasury and risk management
The group’s treasury function seeks to reduce or eliminate exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and other
financial risks, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely
and profitably. It does not engage in speculative transactions and transacts only in relation to underlying business
requirements. It operates policies and procedures which are periodically reviewed by the board and is subject to
regular audit control reviews.

Interest rate risk management
The group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of
derivative arrangements. The group also mixes the duration of its borrowings to smooth the impact of interest rate
fluctuations.

Currency risk management
An increasing proportion of the products sold through the group’s Home Shopping division and the Educational
Supplies division are procured through the group’s Far East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods
is principally the US Dollar, with a proportion being in Hong Kong Dollars. The group has a policy of hedging these
foreign currency denominated transactions by entering into forward exchange purchase contracts.

Borrowing risk
The group’s exposure to borrowing risk is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions with strong
credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation.

27 Provisions
2009 2008
£000 £000

Restructuring provision
At beginning of period — 1,681
Utilised in the year — (1,681)
At end of period — —

The restructuring provision brought forward in the prior year predominantly related to redundancy costs to be
incurred in the reorganisation of the businesses acquired during that year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and movements thereon
during the current and prior reporting period:

Short term Accelerated Retirement Other
timing capital benefit Tax intangible

differences allowances obligations losses assets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2007
(as previously reported) (1,823) 5,062 (4,463) — 16,233 15,009
Prior year adjustment — (3,777) — — — (3,777)
At 1 April 2007 (restated) (1,823) 1,285 (4,463) — 16,233 11,232
On acquisition — (6) (128) — 799 665
Charge to profit or loss for the year 382 (1,452) 1,263 — (1,766) (1,573)
At 1 April 2008 (1,441) (173) (3,328) — 15,266 10,324
Charge to profit or loss for the period (82) 3,076 1,029 (3,855) (3,740) (3,572)
At 3 April 2009 (1,523) 2,903 (2,299) (3,855) 11,526 6,752

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the group’s accounting policy.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for balance sheet purposes:

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Deferred tax liabilities 15,356 18,613
Deferred tax assets (8,604) (8,289)

6,752 10,324

No temporary differences have been recognised in respect of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries following
changes in UK tax legislation regarding the taxation of dividends received from overseas companies. This is on the
basis that no incremental UK tax liability will arise when these earnings are distributed.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with deferred tax assets which have not been
recognised is £6,951,000 (2008: £6,645,000). These amounts primarily relate to carried forward tax losses and
accelerated capital allowances. No asset has been recognised in respect of these differences because there is
insufficient evidence that the relevant subsidiaries will make suitable future taxable profits against which these
assets may be utilised.

The following are the major deferred tax assets not recognised by the group and movements thereon during the
current reporting period:

Short term Accelerated
timing capital Tax

differences allowances losses Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2008 — — (6,645) (6,645)
Movements during the period (14) (1,679) (461) (2,154)
Prior year adjustments (12) (448) — (460)
Impact of discontinued operations — — 2,308 2,308
At 3 April 2009 (26) (2,127) (4,798) (6,951)
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29 Share-based payments
Equity settled share option schemes
The company has a share option scheme for all employees of the group. Options are exercisable at a price equal to
the average quoted market price of the company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is three years. If
the options remain unexercised after a period of 7 years from the date of grant, the option expires. Options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the group before the options vest.

2009 2009 2008 2008
No. of share Weighted No. of share Weighted

options average options average
exercise exercise

price (in £) price (in £)

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 442,566 4.45 548,248 4.29
Granted during the period — — — —
Exercised during the period (28,036) 2.14 (105,682) 3.61
Outstanding at the end of the period 414,530 4.61 442,566 4.45
Exercisable at the end of the period 188,842 216,878

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was
289.75 pence. The options outstanding at the end of the period have a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 3.21 years (2008: 3.96 years). No options were granted in relation to this scheme in the current period or
prior year.

Performance Share Plan (Equity settled)
The group issued to certain senior employees conditional awards of performance shares under a Performance Share
Plan (PSP) that require the group to award shares to the employee on the vesting of the award subject to the
achievement of certain predetermined performance conditions. The performance period is three years after which
the awards vest.

For awards granted during the period, awards will vest in full dependent on the achievement of a debt reduction of
not less than £100m over the three years of the performance period whilst maintaining a return on capital of not
less than 17% in the final year.

For awards granted prior to 1 April 2008, there are two distinct performance conditions that apply to awards made
under the PSP. Half of any award is subject to the growth in the company’s normalised earnings per share (EPS)
growth in excess of ‘RPI’. The remaining half of an award will be subject to the relative total shareholder return
(TSR) of the company compared against the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts).

2009 2008
No. of shares No. of shares

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 629,614 279,013
Granted during the period 2,117,276 393,636
Vested during the period — (14,245)
Lapsed during the period — (28,490)
Outstanding at the end of the period 2,746,890 629,914

The estimated fair value of the awards granted during the period is £1,731,000 (2008: £2,113,000). In each case
these costs are spread over three years when appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 Share-based payments – continued
The fair values of the awards in the current period and prior year were calculated using a Black-Scholes and a
Stochastic option pricing model respectively. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2009 2008

Weighted average share price (pence) 81.8 640.9
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 0.0 0.0
Expected volatility N/A 28.3
Expected life (years) 3.0 3.0
Risk free rate (%) N/A 4.80
Expected dividend yield (%) 0.0 0.0

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over the previous
three years.

The group recognised total expenses of £nil (2008: £1.0m) related to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions in the year reflecting the charge arising in the period being offset by the reversal of charges on
non-market related performance criteria share options which are no longer expected to vest.

Other share-based payment plan
The group issued to certain senior employees share appreciation rights (SARs) under a Long Term Investment Plan
(LTIP) detailed on page 28, the performance criteria for which have been met, that require the group to pay the
intrinsic value of the SAR to the employee at the date of exercise. As described in Note 31, the group holds
1,128,190 ordinary shares within an Employee Benefit Trust as a hedge against the group’s liabilities under the LTIP.
Given the share price at 3 April 2009 of 86.5p no exercise of the right held is anticipated. On 9 July 2009,
796,254 of the 834,849 interests in notional shares held under the LTIP lapsed.

30 Share capital
2009 2008
£000 £000

Authorised
95 million ordinary shares of 5p each 4,750 4,750
Allotted, issued and fully paid
At the beginning of the period 4,255 4,250
Exercise of share options 2 5
At the end of the period 4,257 4,255

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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31 Capital reserves
Capital Share Liability for

redemption premium Merger Own share-based
reserve account reserve shares payments Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2007 403 23,568 29,518 (3,012) 369 50,846
Share issues — 376 — — — 376
Own shares transferred from
Employee Benefit Trust — — — 38 — 38
Credit to equity for share-based
payments — — — — 973 973
At 1 April 2008 403 23,944 29,518 (2,974) 1,342 52,233
Share issues — 59 — — — 59
Impairment of own shares reserve — — — 1,998 — 1,998
At 3 April 2009 403 24,003 29,518 (976) 1,342 54,290

Own shares comprises 1,128,190 ordinary shares of 5p each of the company, representing 1.3% of the issued
share capital of the company at 3 April 2009. The maximum number of such shares held during the year was
1,128,190. These shares, which are held in an Employee Benefit Trust established for the purpose, were purchased
in order to provide a hedge against the group’s liabilities under the Long Term Incentive Plan.

The liability for share-based payments represents the cumulative share option charge under IFRS 2 less the value of
any share options that have been exercised.

The capital redemption reserve arose on the purchase and cancellation of 8,060,234 ordinary shares during the
year ended 31 March 1999.

The merger reserve arose on the acquisition of the whole of the share capital of Novara plc during the year ended
31 March 2002. The difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the fair value of the assets
acquired was credited to the merger reserve.

None of the above reserves are distributable.

32 Translation reserve
£000

Balance at 1 April 2007 (404)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (87)
Balance at 1 April 2008 (491)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 1,783
Balance at 3 April 2009 1,292

The translation reserve represents movements in the consolidated balance sheet which are taken directly to
reserves, arising as a result of movements in exchange rates.

33 Retained earnings
£000

At 1 April 2007 (as previously reported) 67,020
Prior year adjustment (see note 1) (11,670)
At 1 April 2007 (restated) 55,350
Dividends paid (17,027)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 16,700
Own shares transferred from Employee Benefit Trust (38)
At 1 April 2008 54,985
Dividends paid (16,548)
Loss for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent (41,536)
Impairment of own shares reserve (1,998)
At 3 April 2009 (5,097)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 Non cash transactions
During the period the group entered into finance leases with a capital value at inception of £1,772,000 (2008: £nil).

35 Capital commitments
The group had no capital commitments at 3 April 2009 or 31 March 2008.

36 Operating lease arrangements
2009 2008
£000 £000

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense in the period 12,220 11,813

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which
fall due as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Within one year 11,894 12,002
In the second to fifth years 32,984 33,011
After five years 52,924 43,341

97,802 88,354

Operating lease payments predominantly represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office and
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 7 years and rentals are fixed for an average of
three years.

The group leases its new premises at Hyde from Ham 450 LLP, an unrelated third party, at £0.9m per annum
following its sale and leaseback by the group on normal commercial terms on 1 April 2009. The premises have a
charge over them in favour of Mr K Chapman (a director) and certain other members of his family arising from a loan
to assist with the purchase of the premises.

37 Retirement benefit plans
Defined contribution schemes
The group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for all qualifying employees.The assets of the plan
are held separately from those of the group in funds under the control of trustees. The only obligation of the group
with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions. The total expense recognised in
the income statement of £1,022,000 (2008: £798,000) represents contributions payable at rates specified by the
rules of the plan.

Defined benefit schemes
The principal UK scheme (the “Findel Group Pension Fund”) was assessed by Aon Consulting, the scheme’s actuaries, at
6 April 2007 using the projected unit method. The principal actuarial assumptions adopted in that valuation were that the
annual rate of return on growth investments would be 1.50% higher than the annual increase in total pensionable
remuneration and the return on bond investments would be between 2.05% and 2.25% higher than the annual
increase in present and future pensions in payment. The actuarial value of the assets was sufficient to cover 91%
of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable
remuneration. The market value of the scheme’s assets at the date of valuation was £66.8m. The next formal
valuation is due with an effective date no later than 6 April 2010.

In addition, the company sponsors the Findel Education Pension Scheme, which was assessed by Aon Consulting, the
scheme’s actuaries, at 6 April 2007. The principal actuarial assumptions adopted in that valuation were that the
annual rate of return on investments would be 1.25% (1.75% for the purposes of the recovery plan) higher than the
annual increase in total pensionable remuneration and 2.75% higher than the assumed price inflation assumption.
The market value of the assets was sufficient to cover 85% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after
allowing for expected future increases in pensionable remuneration. The market value of the scheme’s assets at the
date of valuation was £19.4m. The next formal valuation is due with an effective date no later than 6 April 2010.
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37 Retirement benefit plans – continued
The most recent valuations of the plans for IAS 19 purposes were carried out at 3 April 2009 by Aon Consulting.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost and past service cost, were
measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the IAS 19 actuarial valuations were as follows:

2009 2008
% %

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 6.70 6.70
Expected return on scheme assets 6.70 6.80
Inflation 3.00 3.50
Rate of general increase in salaries 4.75 5.25
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 3.00 3.50
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 3.00 3.50

The assumption used for post-retirement mortality is equivalent to a life expectancy for a sample male aged 65
retiring in April 2009 of 87.0 years (2008: 87.0 years) (FGPF) and 87.0 years (2008: 84.8 years) (FEPS); and
for a sample male retiring in April 2029 of 88.1 years (2008: 88.1 years) (FGPF) and 88.1 years (2008: 86.1 years)
(FEPS).

The actual rate of return on assets was (16)% (2008: (2)%). The overall expected rate of return of 6.80%
(2008: 7.00%) is based on market conditions at the balance sheet date, reflecting the mix of assets held.

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of the defined benefit plans are as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

(i) included within administrative expenses
Current service cost 938 1,203
Past service cost — 30
Gains on settlements and curtailments — (170)
Total operating charge 938 1,063

(ii) included within financial costs
Expected return on pension assets (5,978) (5,897)
Interest cost 5,846 5,345
Net income (132) (552)

The amount recognised in the balance sheet arising from the group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit
retirement benefit schemes is as follows:

2009 2008 2007
£000 £000 £000

Fair value of scheme assets 72,227 84,781 86,745
Present value of funded obligations (88,317) (88,220) (99,222)

(16,090) (3,439) (12,477)
Unrecognised actuarial losses/(gains) 7,878 (8,448) (2,399)
Net pension liability recognised in the balance sheet (8,212) (11,887) (14,876)

The related deferred tax asset is disclosed in Note 28.

Movements in the pension deficit were as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Opening deficit (3,439) (12,477)
Movement in period:
Acquisitions in the period — (428)
Current service cost (938) (1,203)
Past service cost — (30)
Gains on settlements and curtailments — 170
Interest cost (5,846) (5,345)
Expected return on pension assets 5,978 5,897
Actuarial (loss)/gain (16,256) 6,049
Contributions 4,411 3,928
Closing deficit (16,090) (3,439)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 Retirement benefit plans – continued
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

At beginning of period (88,220) (99,222)
Movement in period:
Acquisitions in the period — (2,321)
Current service cost (938) (1,203)
Interest cost (5,846) (5,345)
Contributions by the members (156) (171)
Gains on settlements and curtailments — 170
Actuarial gain 3,613 13,442
Benefits paid 3,230 6,460
Past service cost — (30)
At end of period (88,317) (88,220)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

At beginning of period 84,781 86,745
Movement in period:
Acquisitions in the period — 1,893
Contributions 4,411 3,928
Contributions by the members 156 171
Expected return on pension assets 5.978 5,897
Actuarial loss (19,869) (7,393)
Benefits paid (3,230) (6,460)
At end of period 72,227 84,781

The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Expected return Fair value of assets
2009 2008 2009 2008

% % £000 £000

Equities/Property 8.00 8.00 35,818 49,369
Bonds 5.50 4.60 34,511 33,825
Other 5.25 5.25 1,898 1,587

72,227 84,781

The history of experience adjustments is as follows:

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 72,227 84,781 86,745 80,866 67,000
Fair value of defined benefit obligation (88,317) (88,220) (99,222) (99,788) (91,622)
Deficit in the scheme (16,090) (3,439) (12,477) (18,922) (24,622)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Amount (£000) 3,613 2,394 (16) (4,498) (7,521)
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) 4% 3% 0% (5%) (9%)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (£000) (19,869) (7,393) (1,379) 8,408 2,892
Percentage of scheme assets (%) 28% 9% 2% 11% 5%

The group contributed £3.7m into the defined benefit pension schemes during the year and anticipates continuing to
do so in the year ending 31 March 2010.
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38 Financial Instruments
Capital risk management
The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The board of
directors reviews the capital structure of the group regularly considering both the costs and risks associated with
each class of capital. The capital structure of the group consists of:

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Debt
Obligations under finance leases (note 24) 2,247 1,089
Borrowings (note 25) 383,762 398,394
Cash at bank and in hand (note 22) (9,924) (12,767)

376,085 386,716

Equity
Share capital (note 30) 4,257 4,255
Capital reserves (note 31) 54,290 52,233
(Accumulated deficit)/retained earnings (note 33) (5,097) 54,985

53,450 111,473

Gearing (being debt divided by equity above) 7.04 3.47

Externally imposed capital requirement
The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

Categories of financial instruments
Carrying value

2009 2008
£000 £000

(Restated)

Financial assets
Held for trading — 457
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 284,116 321,948

Financial liabilities
Held for trading 3,219 315
Amortised cost 476,766 501,274

Financial risk management objectives
The group’s financial risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
cash flow interest rate risk.

The group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to manage its
exposure. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the group’s policies approved by the board of directors. The
group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative
purposes.

Market risk
The group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to
interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:

� forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the purchase of inventory in
US dollars; and

� interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 Financial Instruments – continued
Foreign currency risk management
The group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000

Euro 2,912 3,286 (1,865) (14)
Hong Kong dollar 4,381 — (14,556) (213)
US dollar 18,008 3,132 (5,318) (3,419)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
A significant proportion of products sold through the group’s Home Shopping and Educational Supplies divisions are
procured through the group’s Far East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is principally the
US dollar, with a proportion being in Hong Kong dollars.

The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Sterling against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the group where the denomination of
the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates
an increase in profit and other equity where Sterling strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10%
weakening of Sterling against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and
other equity, and the balances below would be negative.

Euro Hong Kong dollar US dollar
currency impact currency impact currency impact

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Profit or loss and equity (95) (297) 498 19 (636) (1,291)

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with anticipated sales and
purchase transactions out to approximately 12 months from the balance sheet date.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the period end. All of these
contracts are designated at fair value through the profit and loss account:

Outstanding contracts
Average

exchange rate Foreign currency Contract value Fair value
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Rate Rate US$000 US$000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Buy US dollars
Less than 3 months 1.4746 1.9974 2,000 5,000 1,356 2,503 (5) 22
3 to 6 months 1.4752 2.0409 4,000 5,000 2,711 2,450 (10) 89
6 months + 1.4760 2.0265 6,000 18,000 4,065 8,883 (15) 346

1.4757 2.0239 12,000 28,000 8,132 13,836 (30) 457

Changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to £487,000 have been charged to income
in the period (2008: £584,000 credited to income).

Interest rate risk management
The group is exposed to interest rate risk as the group borrows funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The
risk is managed by the group by maintaining a mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, by the use of interest
rate swap contracts and forward interest rate contracts. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with
interest rate views and defined risk appetite; ensuring hedging strategies are applied, by either positioning the
balance sheet or protecting interest expense through different interest rate cycles.

The group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note.
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38 Financial Instruments – continued
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives
and non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit
and equity reserves for the period ended 3 April 2009 would decrease/increase by £1,919,000 (2008: decrease/
increase by £1,992,000). This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings.

Interest rate swap contracts
Under interest rate swap contracts, the group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate
interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the group to mitigate the
risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt held and the cash flow exposures on the
issued variable rate debt held. The fair value of interest rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by
discounting the future cash flows using the curves at the reporting date and the credit risk inherent in the
contract, and is disclosed below. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the
financial year.

The following details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts
outstanding as at the reporting date.

The group uses interest rate derivatives to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank borrowings
by the use of fixed interest rate arrangements. Contracts with a nominal value of £100m have a fixed rate of 4.8%
for the period to 4 January 2010.

At 3 April 2009 the fair value of the group’s interest rate derivatives is a liability of £3.2m (2008: £0.3m). These
amounts are based on quoted market prices for equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date.

Changes in the fair value of non-hedging interest rate derivatives amounting to £2,874,000 have been charged to
income in the period (2008: £589,000).

Due to the nature of many of the group’s hedging and derivative instruments, hedge accounting has not been
adopted for these hedging relationships. Consequently, all of these instruments are designated at fair value through
the profit and loss account.

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the group. The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the
balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is an
identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash
flows. A more detailed commentary of the group’s exposure to credit risk within its trade receivables, and the
procedures employed to manage this risk, is set out in note 21.

The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. The group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if
they are connected entities. Other than the loan to associate disclosed in note 39, concentration of credit did not
exceed 5% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative
financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses,
represents the directors’ best estimate of the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
the value of any collateral obtained.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements. The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 25 is a description of additional
undrawn facilities that the group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 Financial Instruments – continued
Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following tables detail the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted
average
effective Less than 1 to 5

interest rate 1 year years 5+ years Total
% £000 £000 £000 £000

2009
Non-interest bearing — 90,757 — — 90,757
Finance lease liability 7.50 1,555 1,012 7 2,574
Variable interest rate instruments 4.96 59,043 376,884 — 435,927

151,355 377,896 7 529,258

2008
Non-interest bearing — 101,791 — — 101,791
Finance lease liability 7.50 664 589 — 1,253
Variable interest rate instruments 6.69 90,258 422,910 — 513,168

192,713 423,499 — 616,212

The group has access to financing facilities, the total unused amount of which is £76,162,000 (2008: £70,713,000)
at the balance sheet date. The group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds
of maturing financial assets.

The group enters into two types of derivative financial instruments relating to gross settled foreign exchange
contracts and net settled interest rate swaps which have been disclosed separately. When the amount payable or
receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the interest and foreign currency
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

The timing and fair value of the cash flows relating to the gross settled foreign exchange contracts are detailed in
the ‘outstanding contracts’ table above.

The timing and fair value of the cash flows relating to the net settled interest rate swaps are estimated as a
£3,219,000 liability due within one year in respect of the period ended 3 April 2009. In respect of the year ended
31 March 2008, there was an asset of £44,000 of which £16,000 was due in less than one year and £28,000 due
between one and five years.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows.

� Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived
from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.

� Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on
the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

� The fair value of other non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate their fair value.
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39 Related party transactions
Trading transactions
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not discussed in this note.

During the period to 3 April 2009, the group made purchases from its associate on normal commercial terms of
£6.91m (2008: £4.26m) and in the same period the group supplied goods and services to its associate of £7.61m
(2008: £7.15m). At 3 April 2009 the group had trade payables due to its associate of £1.74m (2008: £0.03m)
and trade receivables due from its associate of £6.70m (2008: £10.04m). At 3 April 2009, the group had loans
receivable from its associate of £33.7m (2008: £34.4m). During the current period, interest income of £3.5m
(2008: £2.2m) has been recognised on the loan. The loan carries interest at 12%, is unsecured and is repayable on
demand. The directors consider that the fair value of this receivable is not materially different to its carrying value.
The receivable is not past due and has not been impaired.

The group has a trading relationship with Herbert Walker & Son (Printers) Limited (“Herbert Walker”), a commercial
printing company which is controlled by Mr K Chapman, a director. During the period to 3 April 2009, group
purchases from Herbert Walker on normal commercial terms amounted to £0.32m (2008: £0.51m) and in the same
period the group supplied goods and services to Herbert Walker of £0.11m (2008: £0.12m). At 3 April 2009, the
group indebtedness to Herbert Walker was £0.04m (2008: £0.03m) and that of Herbert Walker to the group was
£0.02m (2008: £0.03m).

On 1 April 2008, the company entered into a five-year agreement with A F K Nelson Limited on normal commercial
terms in respect of premises at Nelson which it uses for warehouse and distribution. The annual rent is £175,000
and the lease is terminable on six months’ notice by either party. The directors of A F K Nelson Limited are
Jonathan Chapman and James Chapman, who are related to Mr K Chapman, a director.

The company is currently party to a five-year lease with Shawbrook Developments Limited on normal commercial
terms in respect of premises at Padiham which it uses for warehouse and distribution. The annual rent is £0.3m
and the lease is terminable on six months’ notice by either party. James Chapman is a director of, and shareholder
in, Shawbrook Developments Limited and is related to Mr K Chapman, a director.

During the year ended 3 April 2009 an initial deposit of £0.5m was repaid by Shawbrook Developments Limited in
relation to a proposed joint venture property project to improve the warehouse and distribution capacity of the
group. This was cancelled as a consequence of current market conditions.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors including consultancy contracts and share-based payments, who are the key
management of the group, is set out in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 29
and is summarised below. A share-based payment charge arising in the period of £nil (2008: £535,000) related to
the directors.

2009 2008
£000 £000

Short-term employee benefits 1,932 3,796
Post-employment benefits 288 224

2,220 4,020

40 Acquisition of business
On 23 July 2009, the group acquired the remaining 70% of the issued share capital of Webb Group Limited
(“Webb”) for a nominal consideration of £3. The transaction will be accounted for by the purchase method of
accounting.

The results of the business in respect of the financial periods ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008 are
disclosed in note 19 above.

Due to the proximity of the purchase of Webb to the time of issuing the financial statements it is not practicable to
provide the book values and fair values of the business acquired. At 31 March 2009, Webb Group had net liabilities
of £36m, reflecting total assets of £51m and total liabilities of £87m.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (COMPANY)

To the members of Findel plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Findel plc for the period ended 3 April 2009 which
comprise the Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 19. These parent company financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Findel plc for the period ended 3 April 2009 and
on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies
Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent
company financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information
presented in the Chairman’s Statement and Finance Director’s Review that is cross referred from the Review of
the Year and Future Prospects section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial statements. We consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent company
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the parent company financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company
financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

� the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 3 April 2009;

� the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985; and

� the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
24 July 2009
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
At 3 April 2009

2009 2008
Notes £000 £000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 5 13,261 13,983
Investments 6 125,853 133,215

139,114 147,198
Current assets
Debtors 7 278,330 274,209
Cash at bank and in hand 40,640 56,885

318,970 331,094
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 8 (91,185) (95,475)
Net current assets 227,785 235,619
Total assets less current liabilities 366,899 382,817
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 9 (250,000) (235,004)
Provisions for liabilities 10 (2,012) (2,387)
Net assets 114,887 145,426

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 13 4,257 4,255
Capital redemption reserve 14 403 403
Share premium account 14 24,003 23,944
Revaluation reserve 14 29,518 29,518
Own shares 14 (976) (2,974)
Liability for share-based payments 14 1,342 1,342
Profit and loss account 14 56,340 88,938
Equity shareholders’ funds 15 114,887 145,426

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 24 July 2009

P E Jolly
Directors

C D Hinton }
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting
The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain fixed asset
investments, and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law.

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the
period and the preceding year. The company has taken advantage of the allowed exemption from FRS 29 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation, and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off all tangible fixed assets on a straight line basis, except for land, over their
estimated useful lives using the following rates:

Freehold buildings: 2%, Plant and equipment: 5% – 33%, Long leasehold buildings: 2%, Motor vehicles: 25%, Short
leasehold buildings: Period of the lease.

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at valuation, less provision for impairment where appropriate. For those
investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration including the issue of shares qualifying for merger relief, cost
is measured by reference to the nominal value only of the shares issued. The investment is then revalued to reflect
the fair value of the consideration, the gain being taken to the revaluation reserve. Investments are revalued every
year to a directors’ valuation, with the surplus or deficit on book value being transferred to the revaluation reserve,
except that a deficit in excess of any previously recognised surplus relating to the same investment is charged to
the profit and loss account.

Financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates.
The company uses derivative financial instruments (primarily forward foreign currency contracts) to hedge its risks
associated with foreign currency transactions. The significant interest rate risk arises from bank loans. The
company converts a proportion of its floating rate debt to fixed rates.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair
value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future
cash flows are recognised directly in reserves and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and
loss account.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised
in the profit and loss account as they arise.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered). Deferred tax
is measured on a non-discounted basis, at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
the timing differences are expected to reverse.

Both current and deferred tax are measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on a non-discounted basis in respect of all timing differences that have originated but
not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in
the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. A net deferred tax
asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of
underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Share-based payments
The accounting policy for share-based payments is set out in note 1 to the group financial statements.
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1 Significant accounting policies – continued

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to Findel plc shareholders are recognised in the financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved.

Leases

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction
of the charge over the periods benefiting from the incentives.

Retirement benefit costs
For defined benefit schemes, the pension scheme assets are measured using fair values whilst the pension scheme
liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted using an appropriate discount rate. The Findel
Group Pension Scheme is a defined benefit scheme. However, the company is unable to identify its share of the
underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and, consequently, has taken
the exemption afforded by FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” to treat the pension scheme as if it were a defined
contribution scheme.

For defined contribution schemes, the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and
other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the period. Differences between contributions payable
in the period and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Cash flow statement
The company has taken advantage of the exemption from the requirement of FRS 1 (“Cash flow statements”) to
present a cash flow statement, as it produces consolidated financial statements which are available to the public.

2 Loss for the year
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the company has elected not to present its own profit
and loss account for the year. The company reported a loss for the financial period ended 3 April 2009 of
£14,052,000 (2008: £6,465,000).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the company was £111,000 (2008: £79,000).

3 Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

2009 2008
No. No.

Administration 24 20

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2009 2008
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 2,547 4,345
Social security costs 183 312
Other pension costs 2,690 2,347

5,420 7,004
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Dividends
2009 2008
£000 £000

Amounts recognised as distributions to shareholders in the period:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 17.50p per share
(2007: 15.60p per share) 14,897 13,259
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (197) (178)

14,700 13,081
Interim dividend for the period ended 3 April 2009 of 2.20p per share
(2008: 4.70p per share) 1,873 3,999
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (25) (53)

1,848 3,946
16,548 17,027

Proposed final dividend for the period ended 3 April 2009 of nil pence per share
(2008: 17.50p per share) — 14,892
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust — (197)

— 14,695

5 Tangible fixed assets
Land and buildings Fixtures and

Freehold Leasehold equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2008 18,170 343 3,455 21,968
Additions — — 140 140
Disposals — — (779) (779)
At 3 April 2009 18,170 343 2,816 21,329

Depreciation
At 1 April 2008 5,593 157 2,235 7,985
Charge for the period 327 14 491 832
Disposals — — (749) (749)
At 3 April 2009 5,920 171 1,977 8,068

Carrying amount
Net book value at 3 April 2009 12,250 172 839 13,261

Net book value at 31 March 2008 12,577 186 1,220 13,983

The net book value of fixtures and equipment includes £nil (2008: £nil) in respect of assets held under finance
leases.

Leasehold property includes short-term leases costing £0.34m (2008: £0.34m), which after depreciation have a
net book value of £0.17m (2008: £0.19m).

Freehold land and buildings includes land costing £0.8m (2008: £0.8m) on which no depreciation has been charged.
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6 Investments
Shares in Group

undertakings Investments Total
£000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2008 and at 3 April 2009 131,551 5,872 137,423

Provisions
At 1 April 2008 4,208 — 4,208
Impairment 7,362 — 7,362
At 3 April 2009 11,570 — 11,570
Net book value at 3 April 2009 119,981 5,872 125,853

Net book value at 31 March 2008 127,343 5,872 133,215

Investments in shares in group undertakings on a historical cost basis are £97.8m (2008: £97.8m).

The carrying value of the investments represents the directors best estimate of the valuation at the balance sheet
date.

Investments at 3 April 2009 comprises 30% of the issued share capital of Webb Group Limited. Webb Group is
registered in England and Wales.

Principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 18 to the group financial statements.

7 Debtors
2009 2008
£000 £000

Trade debtors 144 740
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 222,880 225,084
Derivative asset (note 11) — 457
Other debtors (note 18) 51,346 45,600
Prepayments and accrued income 3,960 2,328

278,330 274,209

Included with other debtors are amounts of £33,654,000 (2008: £34,430,000) falling due after more than one year.

8 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2009 2008
£000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts 23,233 52,637
Obligations under finance leases 2 42
Trade creditors 771 358
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 59,092 36,246
Derivative liability (note 11) 3,219 315
Indirect tax and social security 1,920 280
Accruals and deferred income 2,948 5,597

91,185 95,475
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2009 2008
£000 £000

Bank loans 250,000 235,000
Obligations under finance leases — 4

250,000 235,004

The maturity profile and interest rates relating to the bank loans are outlined in note 25 to the group financial
statements.

Finance lease obligations fall due as follows:

2009 2008
£000 £000

Within one year 2 42
In the second to fifth years — 4

2 46

10 Provisions for liabilities
£000

Deferred tax:
At 1 April 2008 2,387
Credit to profit and loss account (375)
At 3 April 2009 2,012

The deferred tax liability is provided as follows:
2009 2008
£000 £000

Accelerated capital allowances 2,020 2,023
Short term timing differences (8) 364

2,012 2,387

No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of the revaluation of investments on the basis that the group had
no binding contract to dispose of the relevant subsidiaries at the balance sheet date.

11 Derivative financial instruments
As the group’s derivative financial instruments are all held by the company, reference should be made to note 26 to
the group financial statements for the required disclosures.

12 Share-based payments
As the group’s share incentives are all held by the company, reference should be made to note 29 to the group
financial statements for the required disclosures.
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13 Called-up share capital
2009 2008

Number of shares £000 £000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 5p each 95,000,000 4,750 4,750
Allotted, issued and fully paid
At the beginning of the period 85,102,016 4,255 4,250
Exercise of share options 28,036 2 5
At the end of the period 85,130,052 4,257 4,255

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. During the year, the company
allotted 28,036 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £1,401 for consideration of £59,997 in connection with the
company’s share option schemes.

14 Reserves
Capital Share Liability for Profit

redemption premium Revaluation Own share-based and loss
reserve account reserve shares payments account

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2008 403 23,944 29,518 (2,974) 1,342 88,938
Share issues — 59 — — — —
Impairment of own shares reserve — — — 1,998 — (1,998)
Loss for the financial period — — — — — (14,052)
Dividends paid — — — — — (16,548)
At 3 April 2009 403 24,003 29,518 (976) 1,342 56,340

Own shares comprises 1,128,190 ordinary shares of 5p each of the company, representing 1.3% of the issued
share capital of the company at 3 April 2009. The maximum number of such shares held during the year was
1,128,190. These shares, which are held in an Employee Benefit Trust established for the purpose, were purchased
in order to provide a hedge against the company’s liabilities under the Long Term Incentive Plan.

15 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
2009 2008
£000 £000

Loss for the financial period (14,052) (6,465)
New shares issued 61 381
Credit to equity for share-based payments — 973
Dividends paid (16,548) (17,027)
Net reduction in equity shareholders’ funds (30,539) (22,138)
Opening equity shareholders’ funds 145,426 167,564
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 114,887 145,426
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Financial commitments
The company had no capital commitments at 3 April 2009 or 31 March 2008.

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and buildings Other assets
2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000

Expiry date:
Within one year — — 313 241
In the second to fifth years — — 914 1,323
After five years 2,740 2,751 — —

2,740 2,751 1,227 1,564

Leases of land and buildings are typically subject to rent reviews at specified intervals and provide for the lessee to
pay all insurance, maintenance and repair costs.

17 Retirement benefit plans
The company’s employees participate in the Findel Group Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme with the
assets held in separate trustee administered funds.

As the company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent
and reasonable basis, it has taken advantage of the exemption afforded by FRS 17 (“Retirement benefits”) to treat
the pension scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

The disclosures required regarding the assets and liabilities of the scheme can be found in note 37 to the group
financial statements.

18 Related party transactions
The company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 “Related party disclosures” not to disclose
transactions with other members of the group headed by the company.

The company has a trading relationship with Herbert Walker & Sons (Printers) Limited (“Herbert Walker”), a
commercial printing company which is controlled by Mr K Chapman, a director. During the period to 3 April 2009,
purchases from Herbert Walker on normal commercial terms amounted to £0.01m (2008: £0.01m) and in the same
period the company supplied goods and services to Herbert Walker of £0.99m (2008: £0.12m). At 3 April 2009,
the company’s indebtedness to Herbert Walker was £nil (2008: £nil) and that of Herbert Walker to the company
was £0.18m (2008: £0.03m).

At 3 April 2009, the company had loans receivable from its associate of £33.7m (2008: £34.4m). During the
current period, interest income of £3.5m (2008: £2.2m) has been recognised on the loan. The loan carries interest
at 12%, is unsecured and is repayable on demand.

On 1 April 2008, the company entered into a five-year agreement with A F K Nelson Limited on normal commercial
terms in respect of premises at Nelson which it uses for warehouse and distribution. The annual rent is £175,000
and the lease is terminable on six months’ notice by either party. The directors of A F K Nelson Limited are
Jonathan Chapman and James Chapman, who are related to Mr K Chapman, a director.

The company is currently party to a five-year lease with Shawbrook Developments Limited on normal commercial
terms in respect of premises at Padiham which it uses for warehouse and distribution. The annual rent is £0.3m
and the lease is terminable on six months’ notice by either party. James Chapman is a director of, and shareholder
in, Shawbrook Developments Limited and is related to Mr K Chapman, a director.

During the year ended 3 April 2009 an initial deposit of £0.5m was repaid by Shawbrook Developments Limited in
relation to a proposed joint venture property project to improve the warehouse and distribution capacity of the
group. This was cancelled as a consequence of current market conditions.

19 Acquisition of business
On 23 July the company acquired the remaining 70% of the issued share capital of Webb Group Limited for a
nominal consideration of £3. Reference should be made to note 40 to the group financial statements for further
details.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the fifty-fourth annual general meeting of the company will be held at The Devonshire Arms,
Bolton Abbey, North Yorkshire BD23 6AJ on 22 September 2009 at 2.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

Ordinary business

1. To receive and adopt the statement of accounts of the company for the year ended 3 April 2009 together with
the directors’ and auditors’ reports thereon.

2. To receive and adopt the board report on directors’ remuneration for the year ended 3 April 2009.

3. To re-elect Mr P E Jolly as a director.

4. To re-elect Mr G P Craig as a director.

5. To re-elect Mr M L Hawker as a director.

6. To re-appoint Deloitte LLP as auditors to the company for the period to the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

Special business

7. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

That pursuant to S.80 of the Companies Act 1985 the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally
authorised to exercise all the powers of the company to allot Relevant Securities (within the meaning of S.80 of
the said Act) in respect of and up to an aggregate nominal amount of £8,075,795 until the earlier of the date
and time of the next annual general meeting or 15 months from the date of the passing of this resolution; and
so that the company may before that date and time make an offer or agreement which would or might require
Relevant Securities to be allotted after such time and the directors may allot Relevant Securities in pursuance
of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

This resolution asks shareholders to renew the directors’ general authority to allot unissued shares, should it
be desirable to do so. It is expected that at the time that resolution 7 is to be proposed that the company’s
authorised but unissued share capital will be £13,027,891, the share capital having been increased and new
shares allotted pursuant to resolutions to be proposed at the company’s general meeting to be held on
10 August 2009, (the “EGM”). In accordance with relevant guidelines, this authority is to be limited to the
maximum nominal amount of £8,075,795 representing 33% of the company's expected authorised but unissued
share capital as at the date of the annual general meeting. If the resolutions to increase share capital and to
allot new shares are not passed at the EGM, the authority proposed to be taken pursuant to this resolution is
to be limited to £493,497 representing 11.59% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company as at
23 July 2009. The company holds no treasury shares within the meaning of S.162A of the Companies Act 1985
as at 23 July 2009. The directors have no present plans to issue shares using this authority.

8. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

To authorise the directors in accordance with article 88 of the Company’s articles of association to pay to
non-executive directors remuneration of up to £500,000 per annum.

Under its articles of association the company has current authority to pay its non-executive directors up
to £150,000 per annum. This authority is now too low to enable the company to best meet its corporate
governance obligations in respect of recruiting the right number of properly qualified non-executives to the
board.

The directors have no present intention of using the full level of this authority, however, the company is in the
process of recruiting a Senior Independent Director and is continuing its search for another non-executive
director. It therefore needs the additional head room to enable it to recruit and retain the best available
non-executive directors.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

9. Subject to resolution 7 being passed, to consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as a special
resolution:

That, pursuant to S.95 of the Companies Act 1985 the directors be and are hereby authorised:

(i) subject to the passing of the previous resolution, to allot Equity Securities (within the meaning of S.94 of
the said Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the previous resolution; and

(i) to sell Equity Securities (within the meaning of S.94 of the said Act) for cash which before the sale were
held by the company as treasury shares (within the meaning of S.162A of the said Act),

as if sub-section (1) of S.89 of the said Act did not apply to any such allotment PROVIDED that this power
shall be limited:

(a) to the allotment or sale of Equity Securities in connection with a rights issue in favour of ordinary
shareholders where the Equity Securities respectively attributable to the interests of all ordinary
shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by
them, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or any legal or practical problems under the laws of any
territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange; and/or

(b) to the allotment or sale (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph ((a) above) of Equity Securities in
respect of and up to an aggregate nominal amount of £1,223,605,

and shall expire on the earlier of the date and time of the next annual general meeting or 15 months from the
date of the passing of this resolution; save that the company may before that date and time make an offer or
agreement which would or might require Equity Securities to be allotted or sold after such time and in such
event the directors may allot or sell Equity Securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the
authority conferred hereby had not expired.

If the directors wish to allot unissued shares or sell shares from treasury for cash, the Companies Act 1985
requires that these shares are offered first to shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. This is
known as shareholders' pre-emption rights. There may be occasions however when, in order to act in the best
interest of the company, the directors need the flexibility to finance business opportunities as they arise.
Therefore this resolution asks shareholders to renew the directors’ authority to issue or sell from treasury a
limited number of shares for cash, up to a nominal amount of £1,223,605 equivalent to 5% of the company's
expected issued share capital at the date of the annual general meeting, or pursuant to a rights issue or other
pre-emptive issue of shares, without the shares first being offered to shareholders. If the resolutions to
increase share capital and to allot new shares are not passed at the EGM, the authority proposed to be taken
pursuant to this resolution (other than on a rights issue or other pre emptive issue of shares) is to be limited
to £212,825 representing 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company as at 23 July 2009.
Resolution 9 will be proposed as a special resolution. The authority contained in resolution 9, will expire on the
earlier date of the next annual general meeting or 15 months after passing of such resolution.

10. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as a special resolution:

That, in accordance with Regulation 52 of the Articles of Association, a general authority is hereby given for
the purposes of S.166 of the Companies Act 1985 for one or more market purchases (as defined in S.163 of
the said Act) by the company of any of its own shares subject to the following restrictions but otherwise
unconditionally:

(i) The maximum aggregate number of shares to be so acquired shall not exceed 48,944,217 ordinary shares
of 5p each with a nominal value of £2,447,211.

(ii) Shares may only be purchased at a price per share (exclusive of expenses) no higher than 5% above the
average of the middle market quotations of the ordinary shares in the capital of the company, as derived
from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official list, for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of purchase but the minimum price that may be paid for such shares shall be the nominal value of 5p
per share (exclusive of expenses).

(iii) Unless previously renewed, varied, or revoked, this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the company, but the company may before such expiry make contracts for such
purposes which would or might be executed wholly or partly after such expiry, and may make a purchase of
ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract or contracts.
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Under the terms of the Companies Act 1985 and its Articles of Association, the company has power to
purchase its own shares provided that this power has first been sanctioned by shareholders. The directors
consider that in certain circumstances it may be beneficial for the company to purchase its own shares, for
example, to return surplus cash to shareholders and to enhance earnings per share and/or net assets per
share. This resolution asks shareholders to authorise the company to make purchases up to 48,944,217
ordinary shares (representing 10% of the expected issued ordinary share capital of the company as at the date
of the annual general meeting) at a minimum price of 5p per share and a maximum price of 5% above the
average price of the middle market quotations of the ordinary shares in the capital of the company as derived
from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the 5 business days prior to the purchase. If the
resolutions to increase share capital and to allot new shares are not passed at the EGM, the authority
proposed to be taken pursuant to his resolution is to be limited to 8,513,005 ordinary shares representing
10% of the issued ordinary shares capital of the company as at 23 July 2009. The total number of shares that
may be issued on the exercise of outstanding options as at 23 July 2009 was 3,214,545 which represents
approximately 3.78% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) at that date. If the company were
to purchase shares up to the maximum permitted by this resolution, the proportion of shares subject to
outstanding options would represent approximately 0.8% of the resultant issued share capital (excluding
treasury shares) and assuming all resolutions are passed at the EGM.

The purchase price for the company to purchase its own shares may only be satisfied out of distributable
reserves, or the proceeds of a new issue of shares made for the purpose. Purchases will be made on the
London Stock Exchange, and daily notification of any purchases will be made to a Regulatory Information Service.
Full details of purchases made during the year will also appear in the company’s annual report published in 2010.

The fact that the directors are seeking this authority should not be taken as an indication that the company will
purchase its own shares at any particular price or indeed at all and the directors would only consider making
purchases if they believed that such purchases would be in the best interests of the shareholders generally,
having regard to the effect on earnings per share. The directors have no immediate intention to exercise the
proposed authority to purchase shares. The Companies Act 1985 permits companies to hold any shares
acquired by way of market purchases in treasury rather than having to cancel them. The company would
consider holding any of its own shares purchased under the authority granted by resolution [10] as treasury
shares (within the meaning of S.162A of the said Act). This would give the company the ability to re-issue
treasury shares as and when required quickly and cost effectively and would provide the company with additional
flexibility in the management of its capital base. No dividends will be paid on shares while held in treasury and no
voting rights will attach to those shares. Resolution 10 will be proposed as a special resolution. The authority
contained in resolution 10 will expire at the earlier of the conclusion of the next annual general meeting or
15 months after the passing of such resolution.

11. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as a special resolution:

To authorise the calling of general meetings of the Company (not being an annual general meeting) by notice of
at least 14 clear days.

The EU Shareholder Rights Directive (the "Directive"), which is intended to be implemented in the UK in August
2009, requires that all general meetings of listed companies be held on at least 21 clear days’ notice unless
shareholders agree to a shorter notice period.

Under the Companies Act 2006 and under the Company’s articles of association, the company is permitted to
call general meetings (other than annual general meetings) on 14 clear days’ notice. In order to preserve this
right after August 2009, this resolution approves the calling of general meetings of the company on 14 clear
days’ notice and will be valid only up to the next annual general meeting of the company, when it is intended
that a similar resolution will be proposed. The company will also need to meet the requirements for electronic
voting under the Directive before it can call a general meeting on 14 clear days’ notice after August 2009.

By order of the board
I J Bolton
Secretary
24 July 2009
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notes

(a) Members are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote
on their behalf at the meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. A Form of Proxy which may
be used to make such appointment and give proxy instructions accompanies this Notice. A shareholder may
appoint more than one proxy in relation to the annual general meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to
exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. If you do not have a Form
of Proxy and believe that you should have one, please contact Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road,
Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6ZL. The appointment of a proxy does not preclude a member from attending and
voting in person if he or she wishes to do so.

(b) Should you wish to appoint more than one proxy please photocopy the Form of Proxy indicating on each copy the
name of the proxy you wish to appoint, the number of shares in respect of which the proxy is appointed and the
way in which you wish them to vote on the resolutions that are to be proposed. You should send all pages to
Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6ZL. Please also indicate by ticking
the box on the Form of Proxy if you intend to appoint more than one proxy. The following principles shall apply in
relation to the appointment of multiple proxies:

(i) The company will give effect to the intentions of members and include votes wherever and to the fullest
extent possible.

(ii) Where a proxy does not state the number of shares to which it applies (a “blank proxy”) then, subject to
the following principles where more than one proxy is appointed, that proxy is deemed to have been
appointed in relation to the total number of shares registered in the name of the appointing member (the
“member’s entire holding”). In the event of a conflict between a blank proxy and a proxy which does state
the number of shares to which it applies (a “specific proxy”), the specific proxy shall be counted first,
regardless of the time it was sent or received (on the basis that, as far as possible, the conflicting Forms
of Proxy should be judged to be in respect of different shares) and remaining shares will be apportioned to
the blank proxy (pro rata if there is more than one).

(iii) Where there is more than one proxy appointed and the total number of shares in respect of which proxies
are appointed is no greater than the member’s entire holding, it is assumed that proxies are appointed in
relation to different shares, rather than that conflicting appointments have been made in relation to the
same shares. That is, there is only assumed to be a conflict where the aggregate number of shares in
respect of which proxies have been appointed exceeds the member’s entire holding.

(iv) When considering conflicting proxies, later proxies will prevail over earlier proxies, and which proxy is later
will be determined on the basis of which proxy is last sent (or, if the company is unable to determine which
is last sent, last received). Proxies in the same envelope will be treated as sent and received at the same
time, to minimise the number of conflicting proxies.

(v) If conflicting proxies are sent or received at the same time in respect of (or deemed to be in respect of) an
entire holding, none of them shall be treated as valid.

(vi) Where the aggregate number of shares in respect of which proxies are appointed exceeds a member’s
entire holding and it is not possible to determine the order in which they were sent or received (or they
were all sent or received at the same time), the number of votes attributed to each proxy will be reduced
pro rata.

(vii) Where the application of paragraph (vi) above gives rise to fractions of shares, such fractions will be
rounded down.

(viii) If a member appoints a proxy or proxies and then decides to attend the annual general meeting in person
and vote, then the vote in person will override the proxy vote(s). If the vote in person is in respect of the
member’s entire holding then all proxy votes will be disregarded. If, however, the member votes at the
meeting in respect of less than the member’s entire holding then if the member indicates that all proxies
are to be disregarded, that shall be the case; but if the member does not specifically revoke proxies, then
the vote in person will be treated in the same way as if it were the last received proxy and earlier proxies
will only be disregarded to the extent that to count them would result in the number of votes being cast
exceeding the member’s entire holding.

(ix) In relation to paragraph (viii) above, in the event that a member does not specifically revoke proxies, it will
not be possible for the company to determine the intentions of the member in this regard. However, in light
of the aim to include votes wherever and to the fullest extent possible, it will be assumed that earlier
proxies should continue to apply to the fullest extent possible.

(c) To be valid at the meeting, the enclosed Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any)
under which it is signed, or notarially certified copy of such power or authority, must be deposited at the offices
of Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6ZL not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or any adjourned meeting.
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(d) Only those member registered in the Register of Members of the company 48 hours before the time appointed
for the holding of the meeting shall be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. CREST
transactions after that time will not affect entitlements to attend and vote at the meeting and no transfers of
securities in certificated form will be registered from that time until the close of the meeting.

(e) In accordance with section 325 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”), the right to appoint proxies
does not apply to persons nominated to receive information rights under section 146 of the 2006 Act. Persons
nominated to receive information rights under section 146 of the 2006 Act who have been sent a copy of this
notice of annual general meeting are hereby informed, in accordance with section 149(2) of the 2006 Act, that
they may have a right under an agreement with the registered member by whom they were nominated to be
appointed, or to have someone else appointed, as a proxy for this meeting. If they have no such right, or do not
wish to exercise it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the member as to
the exercise of voting rights. Nominated persons should contact the registered member by whom they were
nominated in respect of these arrangements.

(f) Electronic proxy appointment through CREST

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment
service may do so for the annual general meeting to be held on 22 September 2009 and any adjournment(s)
thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should
refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on
their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate
CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST
Manual. The message, regardless or whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to
the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be
received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA19) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified in the
notice of meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the
timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of
instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other
means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that
CRESTCo does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system
timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the
responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member
or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s) to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by
means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable,
their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST
Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a)
of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

(g) If a member is a corporation it is entitled to appoint one or more corporate representatives to exercise all or
any of its rights to attend and to speak and vote on its behalf at the meeting. In order to facilitate voting by
corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so that:

(i) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative to
vote on a poll in accordance with the directions of all of the other corporate representatives for that
shareholder at the meeting, then on a poll those corporate representatives will give voting directions to
the Chairman and the Chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance
with those directions; and

(ii) if more than one corporate representative for the same corporate shareholder attends the meeting but
the corporate shareholder has not appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative,
a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those corporate representatives who
attend, who will vote on a poll and the other corporate representatives will give voting directions to that
designated corporate representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance issued by the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives
(www.icsa.org.uk) for further details of this procedure. The guidance includes a sample form of appointment
letter if the Chairman is being appointed as described in (i) above.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(h) Members should note that it is possible that, pursuant to requests made by shareholders of the company
under section 527 of the 2006 Act, the company may be required to publish on a website a statement setting
out any matter relating to the audit of the company’s accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct
of the audit) that are to be laid before the annual general meeting. The company may not require the members
requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the 2006
Act. Where the company is required to place a statement on a website under section 527 of the 2006 Act, it
must forward the statement to the company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement
available on the website. The business which may be dealt with at the annual general meeting includes the
statement that the company has been required under section 527 of the 2006 Act to publish on a website.

(i) As at close of business on 20 July 2009 (being the last business day prior to publication of this notice), the
company’s issued share capital comprised 85,130,052 ordinary shares carrying one vote each. Therefore, the
total number of voting rights in the company as at 20 July 2009 is 85,130,052.

(j) Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the company’s registered office during
normal business hours of any weekday (public holidays excluded) until the conclusion of the annual general
meeting:

(i) the directors’ service contracts;

(ii) the register of directors’ interested in the share capital of the company;

Such documents will also be available for inspection at the place of the annual general meeting for at least
15 minutes prior to the meeting as well as during the meeting.
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